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to the outcome of contract negotiations.  Wal-Mart denied that the language suggested that workers would 
automatically lose benefits by organizing or during negotiations.728  
  

The ALJ concluded, however, that the language “is a not very subtle threat to its employees that something 
unpleasant will happen to them if they organize, namely the loss of the company benefits. . . .  To simply offer 
the existing language as a contingency leaves any reasonable employee with the clear impression that being 
represented by a union will likely result in a loss of benefits.”  The ALJ found the language unlawful, stating: 
 

What else could this clause have been intended to do, but to threaten employees, who were naturally 
unsophisticated in the nuances of labor relations, with a loss of benefits for exercising their . . . rights? . . .  I am 
convinced that [Wal-Mart] intentionally selected the specific language it did to ensure, to the extent it could, 
that its employees were fearful of losing their benefits, and, thus, continued to reject union representation. . . .  
[T]he . . . language in question . . . could have no legitimate purpose.  Its only purpose could have been to 
coerce employees in the exercise of their . . . rights.729 
   

The judge ordered Wal-Mart to delete the language from its benefits books or amend it  to clarify that “the 
union-represented employees’ benefits are provided for through the collective-bargaining process, and that 
union-represented employees will remain eligible for benefits during bargaining.”  The ALJ also ordered Wal-
Mart to post notices setting forth the order to amend the books and promising to comply at all facilities across 
the country where workers had received them.730  
  

Wal-Mart appealed to the five-member Board in Washington, DC, and the issue was subsequently resolved 
through a settlement between Wal-Mart and the NLRB general counsel.731  The settlement is weaker than the 
remedy ordered by the ALJ, however.  It contains a non-admissions clause and requires Wal-Mart to amend the 
offending language in all future benefits books nationwide, post the revised language on the company intranet, 
announce the change in Wal-Mart’s newsletter, but display only at the Kingman facility a notice announcing 
that the language in question will be replaced in all new versions of the benefits book.  The new language 
states, “Also excluded are employees who are members of a collective-bargaining unit whose retirement 
benefits [or appropriately described benefit] were the subject of good faith collective bargaining.”732  
 
The charging union strenuously objected to the settlement, which they asserted was reached not only against 
their wishes but those of the workers involved in the related cases in NLRB Regions 26 and 32.  Specifically, the 
union opposed the non-admissions clause; the failure to require nationwide posting of the language change 
notice, thereby “failing to inform [Wal-Mart’s] one million workers to whom the benefits book was distributed 
that their . . . rights were violated”; and the proposed new language, which they alleged is “deficient under the 
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Employee Retirement Income Act” and “fail[s] to advise employees that they are eligible for the benefits during 
bargaining.”733   
 

Nonetheless, in July 2005, the Board granted the NLRB general counsel’s motion to sever this portion of the 
case and remand to Region 28 for settlement approval.734  Such a settlement is highly unusual, as settlements 
with terms weaker than ALJ decisions are generally reached earlier in the process—before the NLRB general 
counsel has briefed the five-member Board—and with the support of the charging party.  Neither characteristic 
was present in this case.  

  

Discriminatory Application of Non-Harassment Policies 
Wal-Mart’s non-harassment policy prohibits harassment based on a worker’s religion or 
physical appearance.  Nonetheless, Wal-Mart failed to discipline union opponent Mitch 
Bowen for repeatedly harassing on those grounds union proponents Greg Lewis and Will 
Brooks.  An NLRB judge concluded that the company refused to discipline Bowen because it 
did not want to alienate or anger an anti-union employee.735   
 
Lewis, a Christian minister, complained to managers that Bowman pushed him, called him 
“‘lazy,’” told him that he “‘hated Christians,’” called him a “‘piece of shit,’” and exclaimed, 
“‘[O]h, another goddamned religious function,’” after hearing Lewis mention that he had to 
prepare for a church service.  Managers promised that they would take care of the problem, 
but it continued.736  Later that same month, Lewis was speaking to a TLE co-worker about his 
church when Bowman overheard the conversation and said, “‘[W]hat a bunch of bullshit,’” 
and “‘Let me get my hip boots.’”  Bowman also later came up to Lewis and screamed, “‘Oh, 
God, take me home, bless me Lord,’” and called Lewis “‘fat boy.’”737  Lewis reported 
Bowman's conduct to the district manager, the store manager, and Kirk Williams, but “the 
managers just laughed at him” and told him that he “‘was making a bigger issue out of it 
than it was’” and should go back to work.  Lewis spoke again with the three managers, 
explaining that he felt that Bowman’s actions constituted “‘religious persecution’” and that 
the “‘fat jokes’” were inappropriate.  Kirk Williams responded that “‘it's only words’” and 
told Lewis to go home if he was upset.738   
 

                                                      
733 Ibid.  The NLRB found the new language lawful, however. Advice Memorandum from NLRB, Office of the General Counsel, 
“Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., Case 28-CA-19476,” August 11, 2004.   
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Bowman also harassed union supporter Will Brooks about his weight, calling him “‘big boy’” 
and “‘fat.’”  Brooks complained to TLE district manager Ragnar Guenther, but Bowman 
continued to harass Brooks about his weight and also reportedly called his fiancée a “‘bitch’” 
and threatened to hit her.  Brooks again told Guenther, who promised to look into the situation.  
Several days later, however, Bowman reportedly yelled that “he couldn't believe that he 
worked ‘with a bunch of pussies,’” which Brooks thought was directed at him.  Brooks 
complained once more to Guenther, who allowed him to go home early due to the “‘stress.’”739 
 
At the NLRB hearing, Wal-Mart did not dispute the description of Bowman’s conduct.  
Instead, the company claimed that the Kingman managers had “insufficient evidence . . . to 
warrant taking disciplinary action.”  Wal-Mart denied that Lewis’ and Brooks’ union 
sympathies were related to the way the case was handled.  The ALJ disagreed and found: 
 

The two union supporters were not afforded the protection of [Wal-Mart’s] 
non-harassment policy, because [Wal-Mart] was not willing to eliminate or 
antagonize its anti-union employee. . . .  [Wal-Mart’s] failure to act 
decisively . . . could only have been because it was very reluctant during the 
election campaign to do any thing that might cost [it] the vote of Mitch 
Bowman.  Accordingly, I conclude that [Wal-Mart] has discriminated against 
Brooks and Lewis by disparately applying and enforcing its non-harassment 
policies.740 

 
Discussing Wal-Mart’s failure to punish Bowman for harassing Lewis and Brooks, Brad Jones 
commented, “You’re supposed to have truth, integrity, honesty, and treat fellow associates 
right.  You had a guy that was antagonistic, but he was on the side they needed.”741 

 

Discriminatory Firing  
As already noted, Brad Jones, who had worked at the Kingman, Arizona, Wal-Mart’s TLE since 
March 1996, was one of the most vocal and active union supporters in the TLE and was one 
of the first TLE employees to contact the union.  He signed a union authorization card and 
met with union representatives several times.  Jones continued his union activities even after 
the election was blocked.  By January 2002, he and fellow TLE worker Larry Adams were the 
only two TLE employees still wearing union buttons.  On February 28, 2002, Wal-Mart fired 
Jones.742   
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741 Human Rights Watch interview with Brad Jones, March 15, 2005. 
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Human Rights Watch May 2007 165

Former Managers Describe Trying to Find Cause to Fire Union Leader 

Loss prevention workers were reportedly not the only Kingman, Arizona, Wal-Mart employees instructed to 
monitor Brad Jones and try to find a reason for his dismissal.  At the NLRB hearing, former assistant store 
manager Tony Kuc testified that at a managers’ meeting in the fall of 2001, store manager Jim Winkler referred 
to the “pro-union” workers who were “wearing their buttons and everything,” naming three TLE employees, 
including Jones.  According to Kuc, Winkler instructed managers to “follow the coaching process to a T” 
regarding “attendance and stuff” with those workers and to hold them to a “higher standard” so that they 
would “end up weeding themselves out.”  According to Kuc, at another managers’ meeting near the end of 
2001, Winkler noted that Jones was the only original union supporter still working at the TLE, so “there was 
basically one more person to go, and he would screw up eventually, and he would be gone.”743  Kuc commented 
to Human Rights Watch, “They were looking for any kind of loophole to get rid of the poor guy.”744  Former Wal-
Mart department manager Julie Rebai added, “Brad couldn’t even blink without being called into the office. . . .  
No way.  Brad just wasn’t going to be there.”745  She elaborated: 
 

Managers were supposed to piss Brad off and get him to say something out of line.  They were supposed to 
have one manager tell him one thing and another manager tell him something completely different. . . .  They 
had a list of who to get rid of. . . .  There were only three workers in the TLE not on the list, . . . something like 
twenty-five on the list to be fired, and most were fired or pushed to quit, for example, [by] not giving them two 
days off together or [splitting their workday by giving them] four hours at the beginning [of the day] and then 
four hours later.746 

  
Two days before Jones was fired, he received a yearly performance evaluation in which he 
was rated “exceeds expectations” for most criteria and given an overall job performance 
rating of “meets expectations,” for which he was awarded a 4 percent raise.747  Jones told 
Human Rights Watch, “I was terminated for removing company property from the premises.  I 
was never told what I took.  I assumed it was TLE reports.”748  He explained at the NLRB 
hearing that he often printed and used the TLE reports to track the time it took for services to 
be completed and what services were performed, but he denied ever removing copies from 
the facility.  He added that no one had ever asked him to stop, though management knew he 
printed these records.749    

                                                      
743 Ibid.  The ALJ found Kuc’s testimony to be truthful, noting that he “’testified in a generally credible manner, which was 
sometimes favorable to [Wal-Mart]. . . .  He held up well under questioning.  He seemed candid and believable. . . .  [H]e was 
attempting to testify accurately, without exaggeration or embellishment.  His testimony had the ‘ring of authenticity’ about 
it.” Ibid. 
744 Human Rights Watch interview with Tony Kuc, March 16, 2005. 

745 Human Rights Watch interview with Julie Rebai, March 15, 2005. 

746 Ibid. 

747 Decision and Order, Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., NLRB Div. of Judges, Case Nos. 28-CA-16832, et al. (February 28, 2003). 

748 Human Rights Watch interview with Brad Jones, March 15, 2005. 

749 Decision and Order, Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., NLRB Div. of Judges, Case Nos. 28-CA-16832, et al. (February 28, 2003). 
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According to the ALJ, the decision to fire Jones was based on statements from three Kingman 
employees who had seen him with TLE documents while still on Wal-Mart property, which 
violated no Wal-Mart policy.  There were no witnesses to the alleged theft, and Wal-Mart “could 
not even say what specific documents were allegedly stolen, or whether any documents were 
even stolen at all.”750  Larry Adams added, “They [the store manager and an assistant manager] 
called me in just before they fired Brad.  They were asking me questions about the [TLE] papers.  
‘Was Brad giving the stuff to the union?’  ‘What’s Brad’s connection to the union?’ . . .  I said I 
don’t know what Brad is doing.”  He commented, “They were very intimidating.”751 

 
At the NLRB hearing, Wal-Mart denied targeting Jones for dismissal, but the ALJ found “that 
the evidence overwhelmingly establishes . . . a connection” between Jones’ union activity 
and his firing.  The judge held: 
 

As for Jones, I have concluded that he had become a “marked man,” in the 
sense that Wal-Mart’s managers intended to remove him from the facility 
because of his union activity. . . .  Jim Winkler's remarks of several months 
earlier had set forth [Wal-Mart’s] intention to fire Jones, one of the last union 
supporters, when the opportunity presented itself.  [Wal-Mart] was 
apparently ready on February 28, 2002, and really was not very concerned 
with whether the “evidence” it gathered against Jones made much sense or 
not.  In my opinion, based on the “flimsiness” of the evidence, there was no 
way [managers] had a “good faith” belief that Jones had removed 
confidential documents from the facility.  I find [Wal-Mart’s] stated 
explanation for discharging Jones to constitute a transparent pretext.  It is, 
therefore, appropriate to infer that [Wal-Mart’s] true motive was unlawful, 
that being because of Jones' union activity.752  

 

Discriminatorily Denying Brad Jones COBRA Benefits 
After Jones was fired, Wal-Mart denied him benefits available for terminated workers under 
the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act (COBRA) because he was fired for 
“gross misconduct.”  COBRA allows certain former workers and their families to continue 
their healthcare coverage temporarily at group, rather than individual, rates after the loss of 
employment.753  The ALJ held that because Jones’ firing was illegal, disqualifying him from 
COBRA benefits for his allegedly “gross misconduct” was also illegal.  The judge noted, “In 
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reality, [Wal-Mart] did two things in retaliation for Jones’ union activity, namely terminate him 
and deny him COBRA benefits.”754    
 

Post-script  
After receiving the petition for union recognition in the fall of 2000, the NLRB ruled that the 
appropriate bargaining unit in the Kingman, Arizona, TLE consisted of the roughly thirty total 
TLE workers and ordered an election for October 27, 2000.  The election was postponed 
indefinitely after the UFCW filed unfair labor practice charges against Wal-Mart on October 
24, 2000.755  Between October 2000 and May 2002, the union amended those original 
charges and filed new ones, and in February 2003, an NLRB administrative law judge found 
Wal-Mart guilty of seven unfair labor practices: 1) unlawful surveillance of TLE workers during 
late August and early September 2000; 2) granting workers benefits and improved working 
conditions to discourage workers from supporting the union; 3) denying workers merit raises 
during the union organizing campaign and threatening to continue to do so during collective 
negotiations; 4) discriminatorily failing to enforce the company’s non-harassment policy 
against a union opponent; 5) firing Jones for engaging in union activity; 6) denying Jones 
COBRA coverage after he was terminated; and 7) including language in the company’s 2001 
and 2002 employee benefits books that threatened workers with the loss of company 
benefits if they supported the union.756  In so finding, the ALJ commented: 
 

[T]here is no doubt that the various managers exercised a maximum effort in 
an attempt to remain non-union.  In my view, the degree to which [Wal-Mart] 
conducted its election campaign demonstrated obvious animus towards the 
Local Union and its supporters. . . .  [Wal-Mart] engaged in a very aggressive 
campaign to defeat the Local Union’s organizing efforts.  While an employer 
certainly has the legal right to oppose a union's organizing efforts, by the 
extent and method of their efforts, . . . Wal-Mart’s managers made sure the 
employees understood that this was not simply business as usual.757 

  
The ALJ ordered Wal-Mart to cease and desist from the illegal conduct and to post a notice in 
its Kingman facility briefly setting forth workers’ rights under the NLRA, stating that the NLRB 
had found Wal-Mart in violation of US labor law, and committing not to engage in the 
specific unfair labor practices of which the company had been found guilty.  The judge also 
ordered Wal-Mart to offer Brad Jones his former job back or, if it no longer existed, an 
equivalent position with no loss of seniority or benefits; pay him any lost earnings or 
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benefits he may have suffered while illegally fired, including medical expenses incurred 
because he was denied COBRA; and delete from his files any reference to his dismissal.758   
 
Wal-Mart disagreed with the ALJ’s findings.  According to the ALJ decision, in response to the 
unfair labor practice charges, Wal-Mart had stated: 
 

[T]he actions of its local, regional, and corporate officials, following the filing 
of the [union] petition, were intended merely to explain to its employees why 
union representation was not in their best interest, and constituted a totally 
lawful expression of free speech. . . .  [Wal-Mart] alleges that any changes in 
the operation of its Kingman facility, following the filing of the petition, were 
merely the result of the normal operation and maintenance of the store.  It 
denies any attempt to unlawfully influence its employees’ interest in 
supporting the Local Union.  Any personnel actions taken were allegedly for 
legitimate business reasons, and unrelated to the union activity of the 
employees involved.759 

 
Rather than comply with the order, Wal-Mart appealed all seven of the violations found by 
the ALJ.  Six of those are still pending with the five-member Board in Washington, DC.760  The 
seventh, addressing the illegal benefits book language, was settled.  No union election was 
ever held at the facility.   
 

Addendum: Addressing Worker Concerns to Undermine Union Activity, 2005  
According to hourly TLE manager John Weston, TLE workers at the Kingman, Arizona, Wal-
Mart again began discussing the possibility of organizing in late January and early February 
2005.761  Weston told Human Rights Watch that after senior store managers learned of the 
“union talk,” three issues that had been pending for “God knows how long” were quickly 
resolved—management granted Weston’s requests for an additional computer and a new 
tire machine and added more staff to the TLE.  
  
 

                                                      
758 Ibid. 

759 Ibid. 

760 Order Transferring Proceedings to the NLRB, Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., NLRB Div. of Judges, Case Nos. 28-CA-16832, et al. 
(March 30, 2007).  On September 29, 2006, the five-member Board found that Wal-Mart’s documents and files related to its 
Remedy System were not protected from disclosure by the attorney-client privilege, as the ALJ had previously ruled and, 
therefore, should be admitted into evidence and considered in the ALJ’s decision.  The Board, therefore, remanded the case to 
the ALJ “for the purpose of reopening the record to receive relevant evidence, making findings, and taking further appropriate 
action.”  On March 30, 2007, the ALJ upheld all his previous “findings of fact and conclusions of law,” as well as his 
recommended order and transferred the matter back to the Board. Ibid.; Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., 348 NLRB No. 46 (2006).   
761 Human Rights Watch interview with John Weston, March 17, 2005. 
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Weston explained: 
 

All of a sudden, miraculously we get a computer. . . .  I asked the store 
manager for a second terminal when the Supercenter was being built.  He 
said he’d look into it, but that was the lip action.  I asked him again about 
it. . . .  He said, “If you guys would work harder, you wouldn’t need one.”  He 
left it at that and walked away. . . .  I asked . . . about three times for a 
terminal. . . .  Then I asked my district manager, and he said he’d check into it, 
but that was the end of the discussion.  Then the division one district 
manager was in the store, and I asked about it, and he said he’d check into it.  
That was it.  He never got back to me.  I don’t think he checked into it. . . .  
After the union talk, they said we could have the computer.762 

 
Weston also recounted: 
 

I asked for an additional tire machine from another store.  I asked [store 
management] for the machine at least a couple [of times] and asked Ken, 
division 6 district manager, three times.  I stopped asking because they said 
[there was] no way we could have it because it would make other stores feel 
slighted. . . .  Then after the union talk, poof, we got it.763      

 

In addition, Weston described to Human Rights Watch that, prior to discussions of 
organizing in early 2005, the TLE was “running short staff.”  Weston explained that 
employees would leave the Kingman TLE and would not be replaced.  He commented: 
 

One of the guys got fed up and said maybe we ought to start talking union, at 
least we’d have help. . . .  I went and told [store management]. . . .  As soon as I 
told [store management], maybe three hours, all hell was bustin’ loose in 
there. . . .  [Store management] called the division 1 district manager to let him 
know there was union talk.  The TLE district manager was called.  Division 1 and 
6 district managers showed up the next day, and they brought a whole mess of 
help from other stores.  Help was the big problem.  So, they brought . . . extra 
people. . . .  We got about ten people to help in the TLE with freight. . . .  Then 
they started hiring.  We got three more hires after the union talk. . . .  They 
brought us up to where we could actually function a lot better.764 
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No charges alleging that Wal-Mart unlawfully improved conditions and remedied worker 
concerns to ward off union organizing in early 2005 were filed against the company, however.  
Therefore, the NLRB has not addressed the issue.   
 

New Castle, Pennsylvania, Store Number 2287 
 

Just the overwhelming intimidation is the thing that stands out in my mind 
most.  They’re there morning, noon, and night.  They were there the day after 
the petition was filed. 
—Michael Martino, union organizer, UFCW Local 880.765 

 
On June 13, 2000, the UFCW filed a petition with the NLRB to represent workers at the Tire and 
Lube Express at the New Castle, Pennsylvania, Wal-Mart.  Wal-Mart responded within days, 
sending to the store Carla Flinn and Bill Buford, Wal-Mart labor relations managers at the time, 
Wal-Mart’s regional personnel manager for its TLE division, and the TLE regional manager.766  
“Andrew Baylor” (a pseudonym), a manager and hourly employee who opposed the union and 
spoke to Human Rights Watch on condition of anonymity, explained that the Labor Relations 
Team and outside managers “came in, and they gave people their idea on unions.”767  
 
Former TLE worker and union supporter Joshua Streckeisen added that the Labor Relations 
Team and other outside managers “were the people pulling us aside for videos and Wal-Mart 
meetings.  When they came in, things started to get messed up.”768  Streckeisen commented: 
 

It felt like something bad was going to happen.  All these people flew in.  
Why are they here? . . .  They’d say, “What’s going on with the union stuff?  
Do you think it’s a good thing?”  They tried to act like your buddy.769   

 
Streckeisen explained that during the union campaign, “You felt like you were being 
watched by everyone.  You felt like managers were watching, and if you did one thing wrong, 
they’d get rid of you.  With them saying how they are against the union, it felt like if you did 
anything wrong, you’d be fired.”  He concluded that it was a “nerve-wracking deal going to 

                                                      
765 Human Rights Watch interview with Michael Martino, organizer, UFCW Local 880, Cleveland, Ohio, August 9, 2005. 

766 Decision and Order, Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., NLRB Div. of Judges, Case No. 6-CA-31556 (November 12, 2003).  
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work.”770  Union opponent “Baylor” added, however, that it “may have been tense for others, 
but not for me.”771   
 
During their hard-hitting campaign to defeat the New Castle, Pennsylvania, TLE workers’ 
organizing efforts, the Labor Relations Team members and other Wal-Mart managers used 
myriad anti-union tactics largely comporting with US law and, according to the NLRB, 
committed eight separate US labor law violations.   
 

Group Meetings with Workers 
According to Streckeisen and former TLE worker and union supporter James King, the Labor 
Relations Team held small group meetings with the TLE workers.  Streckeisen recalled one 
day in which the Labor Relations Team showed workers two or three videos, discussing each 
video and “why Wal-Mart does not need a union” with the workers before moving on to the 
next.  He recounted that one addressed Wal-Mart’s benefits and another the role of unions, 
stating that “unions have their place, like in steel mills, manufacturing, construction, etc., 
but not at Wal-Mart because we’re pro-associate and have the Open Door Policy.”772  
  

Open Door Policy 

Streckeisen and “Baylor” told Human Rights Watch that the Labor Relations Team also 
emphasized the company’s Open Door Policy in the meetings with TLE workers.  Streckeisen 
recounted that management explained that “with the union, you have to go to the steward.  
Why would you want to pay the middleman to sit there and talk for you?”773  “Baylor” added: 
 

If you come to them with an issue, they can settle it as well as a union could with 
their Open Door Policy. . . .  Wal-Mart doesn’t feel we need a union because they 
settle everything themselves.  I feel they do a pretty good job at it.774 

 

Highlighting Negative Consequences of Union Formation: Warnings about Collective 
Bargaining 

At the meetings with New Castle TLE workers, the Labor Relations Team and other managers 
also reportedly discussed the collective bargaining process.  According to Streckeisen, they 
explained that “we might get a raise, but we might lose benefits” and that regardless of the 
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774 Human Rights Watch interview with “Andrew Baylor,” August 9, 2005. 
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outcome of the negotiations, “[You could] lose what you got from union dues.”775  
Streckeisen added that the Labor Relations Team and outside managers also provided a list 
of Wal-Mart benefits and then commented that during negotiations, it “might be more 
important for a union organizer to have other benefits, so they might not mention that 
benefit that’s important to you.”776   
 

Management Training 
In addition to meeting with TLE workers, Labor Relations Team member Flinn also began 
holding daily meetings with store mangers to discuss union-related developments.777  At the 
first meeting, Flinn explained that the union was attempting to organize TLE workers and that 
Wal-Mart was “opposing that effort.”  She asked managers to talk to workers in their areas or 
who they knew personally to find out if they supported the union and instructed managers to 
write down any union-related questions that workers might have on index cards and forward 
the cards to upper management.778   
 

Addressing Worker Concerns to Undermine Union Activity 
Four days after workers filed the union petition, Wal-Mart posted a notice for a service 
technician position opening in the TLE, a step to remedy the staff shortages about which TLE 
workers had frequently complained.  Approximately three days later, Michael Bennett, Wal-
Mart’s vice president for TLE at the time; David Hill, TLE district manager in 2000; and Gary 
Wright, TLE regional manager at the time, met with TLE workers to address other issues 
about which workers had repeatedly voiced concern.  The ALJ found that the managers 
promised to remedy the tool shortages and equipment problems, including faulty air hoses, 
tire machines, and wheel balancers, and to increase staffing so that employees would not 
have to skip their lunches or work late.  The ALJ noted that Bennett told the workers that he 
understood their frustrations with Hill and that Hill was going to be retrained and replaced.779  
Commenting on Hill’s departure, former TLE worker Streckeisen told Human Rights Watch, 
“Workers were happy that Dave Hill was fired.”780     
 

The judge also found that Bennett explained to New Castle workers that due to the steps he 
would soon take to address their concerns, as outlined in the meeting, “there was no need 
for third-party representation and that the employees should use the open door policy and 

                                                      
775 Human Rights Watch interview with Joshua Streckeisen, August 9, 2005. 

776 Ibid. 

777 Decision and Order, Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., NLRB Div. of Judges, Case No. 6-CA-31556 (November 12, 2003). 
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that would take care of everything for them.”  Bennett handed out his business cards and 
told workers to “contact him if they had any more problems.”  This was the first time that the 
workers had received Bennett’s number and the first time they had met him.781   
 

Soon after the meeting, the new TLE district manager met with the TLE workers and explained, 
like Bennett, that he would “take care of their concerns” and “do a better job for them than Hill 
had.”782  The ALJ found that shortly thereafter, new equipment arrived and that by the end of 
July, nine employees had been transferred into the TLE, while only five had left, thereby 
addressing staff shortages.783  Commenting on the equipment and staffing improvements, 
former TLE worker James King noted, “As soon as we started the union, things started to get 
done. . . .  Before the union, things weren’t getting done, and if they did, it was in their own 
due time.”784  Similarly, when Human Rights Watch asked Streckeisen why he thought Wal-
Mart addressed workers’ concerns in the TLE after the union organizing began, he answered, 
“They thought that if we were happy, we’d drop . . . the union.  They think they’ll make the 
problems go away.”785   
 

In the hearing before the NLRB administrative law judge, Wal-Mart asserted that it had a 
well-established policy of soliciting grievances and that when it replaced the TLE equipment 
at the New Castle, Pennsylvania, store, it was merely carrying out its long-standing practice 
of remedying problems.  The company claimed that it had unsuccessfully attempted to 
increase staffing even before the petition was filed and that, regardless, it had valid 
business reasons for doing so unrelated to union organizing efforts.  Similarly, Wal-Mart 
argued that it also removed Hill “for legitimate business reasons.”786 
 

The ALJ rejected Wal-Mart’s arguments and found that although Wal-Mart has a policy of 
soliciting grievances, the company “does not have a policy of invariably remedying those 
grievances.”787  The judge continued: 
 

                                                      
781 Decision and Order, Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., NLRB Div. of Judges, Case No. 6-CA-31556 (November 12, 2003).  

782 Ibid.  
783 Ibid.  
784 Human Rights Watch interview with James King, former Wal-Mart TLE worker, New Castle, Pennsylvania, August 9, 2005. 

785 Human Rights Watch interview with Joshua Streckeisen, August 9, 2005. 

786 Wal-Mart presented a number of other arguments defending its installation of new TLE equipment, including that the new 
equipment did not grant workers a benefit and should, therefore, not be considered to affect working conditions and that 
some of the new equipment cost only a nominal amount.  The ALJ rejected these arguments, noting that the poor equipment 
had directly affected workers’ terms and conditions of employment by creating safety problems and inefficiency and that 
while certain equipment items purchased were of nominal value, the entire package of equipment “was far from nominal.” 
Decision and Order, Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., NLRB Div. of Judges, Case No. 6-CA-31556 (November 12, 2003). 
787 Ibid.  
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Here, the employees had repeatedly complained about the lack of adequate 
staff and equipment in the TLE and despite the various policies used by [Wal-
Mart] to encourage employee participation, [Wal-Mart] had consistently failed 
to address those concerns.  It was only with the arrival of the Union that [Wal-
Mart] changed its course and promised to address those concerns.788 

 

The ALJ held that Wal-Mart acted illegally “by promising to remedy employee concerns” and 
“installing new equipment in the TLE to remedy employees’ complaints.”789  The judge 
further explained that “whatever business reasons there were for increasing the staffing in 
the TLE existed long before Wal-Mart decided to act on them,” and that, therefore, it was 
“the union activity of the employees that triggered [Wal-Mart’s] action,” in violation of the 
NLRA.  Similarly, with respect to the removal of Hill, the judge held, “[I]t is clear that the 
reason [Wal-Mart] removed Hill from his position was because the employees had 
complained that he did not rectify their problems and chose to seek union representation as 
a result.  This is not a legitimate business reason for removing a supervisor; rather it is an 
unlawful reason.”790  As a result, the judge concluded that Wal-Mart had unlawfully 
“embarked on a vigorous campaign to adjust employee concerns that had been ignored in 
the past in an effort to undermine support for the Union.”791   
 

Unit Packing  
When Labor Relations Team member Flinn met with New Castle store managers, in addition 
to her other instructions, she asked them to identify two workers in their areas who “stood 
behind [Wal-Mart] 100 percent and try and persuade those employees to transfer to the TLE 
because [Wal-Mart] did not want the Union there.”792  As noted, between the time the union 
petition was filed and the end of July, nine employees transferred into the TLE, and five 
transferred out.  The ALJ hearing the case observed, “The timing of the transfers, coming 
shortly after the petition was filed and before the Regional [NLRB] Director issued a decision 
in representation case [sic], . . . supports that conclusion [that Wal-Mart managers] did just 
as Flinn had ordered.”793  Commenting on the shift of workers into the TLE in the wake of the 
union petition, Streckeisen told Human Rights Watch: 
 

They brought in people who were already with the company for a couple of 
years.  I think they were afraid that if they hired new people, they might get 

                                                      
788 Ibid.  
789 Ibid.  
790 Ibid.  

791 Ibid.  

792 Ibid. 

793 Ibid.  
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some pro-union people. . . .  None of the new people supported the union. . . .  
By the time Wal-Mart got done moving people into the bargaining unit, it was 
about fifty-fifty.794   

 
Wal-Mart denied engaging in unlawful unit packing, claiming that in addition to having 
legitimate business reasons for increasing TLE staffing, the evidence failed to show that the 
company knew the union sympathies of the transfers.  The judge disagreed and found that 
Wal-Mart was unlawfully “attempting to transfer employees into the TLE who would not 
support the Union . . . in an effort to dilute the support for the Union.”795  
 
Commenting on Wal-Mart’s tactic of transferring anti-union workers into the New Castle TLE 
during the organizing drive, union organizer Martino observed, “There are other employers 
that try to pad the numbers, but not to the extreme and not with the quickness that Wal-Mart 
did in this case.  Within two weeks of the petition, maybe two-and-a-half weeks, there were 
eight new workers.”796   

 

Worker Transfer to Dilute Union Support and Interrogating a Worker About 
Union Activity 
Shortly after the union recognition petition was filed, TLE worker Clifford Funk, an open union 
supporter, applied to be transferred to the store’s loss prevention department and was 
interviewed for the position along with nine other candidates.797  After the interview, TLE 
district manager Ron Brewer called Funk into his office and asked how he thought the other 
TLE employees felt about the union and whether he thought it would succeed.  Funk 
answered that “as long as the company was doing what it was supposed to be doing he 
didn't see a problem.”  Funk was hired for the loss prevention position and began his new 
job at the end of July 2000.  In February 2001, Funk reportedly applied to return to the TLE.  
The ALJ found that he discussed the issue with his direct supervisor, who told him that “Flinn 
told him not to let Funk back into the TLE.”798  
 
Wal-Mart claimed at the NLRB hearing that Funk’s transfer was legal because there was a 
legitimate reason for posting the position and Funk voluntarily applied.  The ALJ rejected the 
company’s argument, finding that the company illegally transferred Funk out of the New 
Castle TLE to undermine union support.  The judge held: 

                                                      
794 Human Rights Watch interview with Joshua Streckeisen, August 9, 2005. 

795 Decision and Order, Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., NLRB Div. of Judges, Case No. 6-CA-31556 (November 12, 2003).  

796 Human Rights Watch interview with Michael Martino, August 9, 2005. 

797 Decision and Order, Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., NLRB Div. of Judges, Case No. 6-CA-31556 (November 12, 2003).  
798 Ibid.  
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It is clear that Funk was in favor of the Union and that [Wal-Mart] was well-
aware of this fact.  The evidence also shows that [Wal-Mart] violated the 
Act . . . to prevent the employees in the TLE from selecting the Union.  Part of 
this unlawful scheme was to dilute the support of the Union by transferring 
additional employees into the TLE.  Transferring a pro-union employee out of 
the TLE fit neatly within this pattern.799 

 
The judge further found that Wal-Mart unlawfully interrogated Funk about union activities 
and sympathies during his interview for the loss prevention position, holding: 
 

[T]he questioning occurred in Brewer's office and in the context of Funk's 
attempt to transfer to loss prevention.  Moreover, Brewer did not limit his 
questioning to Funk's union sympathies; he sought to obtain the degree of 
union support of other employees who had not been open union adherents.  
This interrogation occurred in the context of other unfair labor practices.  
Under these circumstances I conclude that [Wal-Mart] violated [the NLRA] by 
coercively interrogating an employee concerning the union sympathies and 
support of other employees.800 

 

Union Activity Surveillance 
In late June 2000, UFCW organizers Michael Martino and Andrea Cathcart distributed pro-union 
literature to employees outside the New Castle, Pennsylvania, Wal-Mart facility for roughly two 
hours.  After about ten minutes, five managers and co-managers came out with large trash 
cans and placed them near the entrance and remained within view of Martino and Cathcart, 
watching them distribute the union literature.801  Martino told Human Rights Watch: 
 

They came out of both entrances—grocery and merchandise.  They came out 
with trash cans and stood behind [them] and watched as we passed out 
literature.  As soon as workers saw the managers, they either didn’t take the 
flyer or they took it and threw it away.  They were intimidated. . . .  Prior to 
them [the managers] coming out, workers were taking the flyers.  Some 
workers would talk to us. . . .  Once the managers showed up, they stopped 
taking the flyers almost completely and stopped talking to us.802 

 

                                                      
799 Ibid.  
800 Ibid.  

801 Ibid.  
802 Human Rights Watch interview with Michael Martino, August 9, 2005. 
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Co-manager Dominic D’Aurora stayed outside within five to six feet of Martino for the full two 
hours, moving with him between entrances.803  Martino recalled, “I began to walk from one 
set of doors to the other.  Dominic followed me.”804  Three other managers stayed for roughly 
thirty to forty-five minutes, while the store and district managers “stood in the vestibule 
between the first and second doors that lead to the grocery area.”  When Cathcart moved to 
the hard goods entrance after about thirty minutes, the assistant bakery manager was there 
sitting on a bench.805   
 
Martino told Human Rights Watch that he could not remember other companies adopting 
similar tactics when he distributed union literature outside their facilities.  He explained, 
“Not to the point where they’ll bring out a trash can, . . . I can’t remember a place doing 
that.”  He noted that managers may send out workers to get flyers and then go back in the 
store or “a manager [will] come out and take the flyer just to see what it is and then call 
somebody, never trash cans and managers.”806 
 
In mid-July 2000, Martino and Cathcart again distributed union literature, and TLE worker 
Funk joined them.807  D’Aurora, along with the store and district managers and the district 
loss prevention supervisor, appeared at the grocery entrance to watch the distribution.  Two 
managers stayed outside and two in the vestibule.  When Cathcart walked to the hard goods 
entrance, the district loss prevention supervisor and another manager were there waiting for 
her.808   
 
The ALJ found that Wal-Mart’s conduct “went beyond mere observation” and that when Wal-
Mart management “placed themselves outside and in close proximity to the union activity 
and remained observing at close range for significant periods of time,” the company 
engaged in unlawful surveillance of union activity.809 
 

Post-script 
On August 3, 2000, the NLRB regional director ordered an election for the bargaining unit of 
all full- and part-time TLE employees at the New Castle, Pennsylvania, Wal-Mart, and an 

                                                      
803 Decision and Order, Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., NLRB Div. of Judges, Case No. 6-CA-31556 (November 12, 2003).  

804 Human Rights Watch interview with Michael Martino, August 9, 2005. 

805 Decision and Order, Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., NLRB Div. of Judges, Case No. 6-CA-31556 (November 12, 2003).  

806 Human Rights Watch interview with Michael Martino, August 9, 2005. 

807 Decision and Order, Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., NLRB Div. of Judges, Case No. 6-CA-31556 (November 12, 2003).  
808 Ibid.  
809 Ibid.  



 

Discounting Rights 178

election was scheduled for August 31.  The election was postponed, however, after the UFCW 
filed unfair labor practice charges against Wal-Mart.810   
 
On November 12, 2003, an NLRB administrative law judge held that Wal-Mart had violated 
US labor law on eight separate occasions.  The judge found that Wal-Mart illegally interfered 
with organizing activity by attempting to undermine union support by: (1) promising to 
remedy worker concerns; (2) removing the unpopular TLE district manager; (3) installing new 
equipment in the TLE; and (4) transferring workers into the TLE to address inadequate 
staffing.  The ALJ also found Wal-Mart guilty of: (5) unit packing; (6) transferring Clifford Funk 
out of the TLE to dilute support for the union; (7) coercively interrogating Funk about other 
workers’ union support; and (8) engaging in surveillance of union activities.  The judge 
ordered Wal-Mart to cease and desist from the illegal conduct and post a notice in the store 
briefly setting out workers’ rights under the NLRA, stating that the NLRB had found the 
company in violation of the act, and pledging to refrain from the specific, illegal conduct in 
which the company had engaged.811  Both sides appealed the ALJ’s decision to the five-
member Board in Washington, DC, but later withdrew the appeals, leading the five-member 
Board to adopt the ALJ’s findings and conclusions on September 30, 2004.812   
   
On February 11, 2005, the union election in the New Castle, Pennsylvania, Wal-Mart TLE was 
finally held—almost four-and-a-half years after it was initially scheduled.  During that period, 
support for the union had waned and most of the TLE workers who filed the election petition 
in 2000 had left the facility.  The union lost the election.813  In its letter denying Human 
Rights Watch’s request for a meeting, Wal-Mart addressed the union’s defeat, noting, “In 
New Castle, the union received no votes for certification, and the vote count was 17-0 against 
union representation.”814  

  

 

 

 

 

                                                      
810 The first charges were filed on August 28, 2000.  The charges were subsequently amended five times on: October 31, 2000; 
October 25, 2001; December 13, 2001; April 15, 2002; and May 31, 2002.  
811 Decision and Order, Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., NLRB Div. of Judges, Case No. 6-CA-31556 (November 12, 2003).  
812 In their joint motion to withdraw their exceptions, the parties requested certain minor changes to the judge’s proposed 
order and notice to employees.  The NLRB granted the joint motion and the request for a slightly amended remedy. Wal-Mart 
Stores, Inc., NLRB, Case No. 6-CA-31556 (September 30, 2004). 
813 See Vera Fedchenko, “Wal-Mart tire workers vote down unionization,” Tire Business, February 28, 2005; Pamela Gaynor, 
“Wal-Mart workers in auto unit in New Castle vote down union,” Pittsburgh Post-Gazette, February 12, 2005; Human Rights 
Watch interview with Michael Martino, August 9, 2005. 
814 Letter from Tovar, October 5, 2006.  The letter further noted that “No post-election objections or charges were filed by the 
union or any individual.” Ibid. 



 

Human Rights Watch May 2007 179

Aiken, South Carolina, Store Number 514  
 

When the team from Bentonville came, they [workers] got scared, scared for 
their jobs, and deserted. . . .  They became scared when they saw the 
executives and were made to watch the films. . . .  They [Wal-Mart managers] 
don’t actually come out and say they would fire you, but the intimidation is 
there. 
—Kathleen MacDonald, Aiken, South Carolina, Wal-Mart worker and key 
union supporter.815 

 

Kathleen MacDonald had worked in the candy department of the Aiken, South Carolina, Wal-
Mart for thirteen years when she contacted the UFCW in February 2001 to ask about trying to 
organize a union at the store.816  MacDonald explained to Human Rights Watch that she 
contacted the union because of “an accumulation of things since the move into the 
Supercenter [in 1994],” including her failure to “hear back from the executives” after she 
raised the issue of pay disparity between men and women.  She added:   
 

They told us [it would be a] nice, big store, plenty of staff.  They didn’t tell 
us . . . that the extra staff would be us and that we’d be stretched thin. . . .  
Morale was very low.  We had a new district manager.  He got rid of our store 
manager, who was a good guy.  He was a good guy in the city, good to the 
community.  The new district manager fires this man. . . .  He had colon 
cancer.  So, he was out a lot.  He was let go, and in walks Tim Mallett.  This is 
when it started. . . .  He ran the store like a prison.817 

 

Two of MacDonald’s colleagues at the time, “Pat Quinn,” speaking to Human Rights Watch 
under condition of anonymity, and Georgia Graham, also explained to Human Rights Watch 
why they supported union formation.  “Quinn” recounted: 
 

At the time, they were giving me such a hard time, and I couldn’t get any help 
from anyone.  No one should have to go through what they put me through.  I 
thought that if there were a union, they wouldn’t be able to do the people the 
way they done me.818   

 

                                                      
815 Human Rights Watch interview with Kathleen MacDonald, June 12, 2005.   

816 Decision and Order, Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., NLRB Div. of Judges, Case Nos. 11-CA-19105, 11-CA-19121 (September 10, 2003). 

817 Human Rights Watch interview with Kathleen MacDonald, June 12, 2005.   

818 Human Rights Watch interview with “Pat Quinn,” June 13, 2005. 
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Graham added, “I felt that . . . the union would be good and help the people. . . .  There were 
a lot of issues: people not being treated fairly with advancements and pay rates, . . . 
favoritism with shifts.”819 
 
After first contacting the UFCW in February, MacDonald asked several co-workers in mid-May 
if they would be interested in supporting a union.820  MacDonald told Human Rights Watch: 
 

I come from a state where everyone has a union job [Massachusetts].  I didn’t 
think it was a big deal.  Everyone was saying that we have to do something.  
So, I suggested the union.  They said, “Sign me up.” . . .  So, I contacted the 
UFCW. . . .  I was talking to about fifteen to twenty people.  I asked if I should 
set up a meeting.  They said, “Yes.”  So, I set up the date and time for the 
first meeting.821   

 
MacDonald scheduled a union meeting with the UFCW on June 21, 2001.822   
 
In early June, MacDonald’s supervisor told Aiken store manager Tim Mallett that he had 
overheard workers discussing a possible union meeting.  Mallett contacted the district 
manager Jim Torgerson, who instructed him to call Wal-Mart’s Union Hotline.823  Later that 
same day, Garth Gneiting, a labor relations manager from Wal-Mart’s Labor Relations Team, 
called Mallett to discuss the suspected union activity.824    
 
Roughly two days before the union meeting was scheduled to be held, Mallett read to the 
workers talking points provided by Kirk Williams, another labor relations manager from the 
Labor Relations Team:  
 

Like always we try to keep you informed on what is going on in our store.  
Most recently, some associates in this store have been talking about having 
a union meeting.  We would like to give you some information about unions.  

 
At Wal-Mart we respect the individual rights of our associates and believe 
you don't need a union to speak for you.  Wal-Mart is not anti-union rather 

                                                      
819 Human Rights Watch interview with Georgia Graham, June 15, 2005. 

820 Decision and Order, Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., NLRB Div. of Judges, Case Nos. 11-CA-19105, 11-CA-19121 (September 10, 2003). 

821 Human Rights Watch interview with Kathleen MacDonald, June 12, 2005.   

822 Decision and Order, Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., NLRB Div. of Judges, Case Nos. 11-CA-19105, 11-CA-19121 (September 10, 2003). 

823 There is contradictory testimony regarding whether Mallett or Torgerson called the Union Hotline, but there is no dispute 
that one of them made the call. Ibid. 
824 Ibid. 
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pro-associate.  You may have family members, neighbors and we certainly 
have customers that are union and that is OK.  But we don't feel unions are 
right for Wal-Mart.  
 
Union organizers will promise anything to get associates to sign a union 
authorization card.  They may promise you better benefits, better hours or 
higher wages, but can they guarantee you any of these things—the answer is 
NO.  
 
All a union can do is ask the company for things, they can not demand 
anything. 
 
Let me encourage you NOT to sign a union authorization card, but to say NO 
to any pressure you may receive.  

 

If you have any questions please get with me or any member of 
management.825  

 

Approximately two days later, Gneiting, Williams, and Gwendolyn Cannon, regional 
personnel manager, arrived at the Aiken store.  Gneiting stayed roughly two days in June, 
returning for about a week in July; Williams approximately until the end of June, also 
returning for about ten days in July; and Cannon, intermittently, for roughly four weeks in 
June and July.826  When asked at trial whether the purpose of her presence at the store was to 
help “keep the store Union free,” Cannon answered affirmatively.827  Similarly, Williams 
explained at trial that his goal as a labor relations manager was also “to keep Wal-Mart 
union free.”828  The ALJ observed, “Wal-Mart's Bentonville team . . . was sent to Aiken to 
make sure that the Union did not succeed in organizing Wal-Mart's Aiken employees.”829  

 

Wal-Mart achieved its goal of keeping the Aiken, South Carolina, store “union free,” but, 
according to the ALJ, it did so only after committing four violations of US labor law.  
 

                                                      
825 Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., “Store Meeting Talking Points, Store #514, Aiken, South Carolina,” June 19, 2001; see also, Decision 
and Order, Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., NLRB Div. of Judges, Case Nos. 11-CA-19105, 11-CA-19121 (September 10, 2003). 
826 Hearing transcript, Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., NLRB Region 11, Case Nos. 11-CA-19105, 11-CA-19121 (February 4, 2003), vol. II, 
pp. 294-95; Hearing transcript, Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., NLRB Region 11, Case Nos. 11-CA-19105, 11-CA-19121 (February 5, 2003), 
vol. III, pp. 491-92; see also, Decision and Order, Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., NLRB Div. of Judges, Case Nos. 11-CA-19105, 11-CA-
19121 (September 10, 2003). 
827 Hearing transcript, Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., NLRB Region 11, Case Nos. 11-CA-19105, 11-CA-19121 (February 4, 2003), vol. II, p. 
296. 
828 Decision and Order, Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., NLRB Div. of Judges, Case Nos. 11-CA-19105, 11-CA-19121 (September 10, 2003). 

829 Ibid. 
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Group Meetings with Workers 
MacDonald and Liz Boyd, a department manager when we spoke with her but an associate 
during most of the union organizing drive in 2001, explained to Human Rights Watch that 
when Williams and Gneiting arrived, store manager Tim Mallett called a meeting in the store 
lounge.  Boyd elaborated, “He introduced Garth and Kirk, and he said they were from the 
home office and had heard that there was a union in the store but that they were not anti-
union but pro-associate and they would be walking the floor and talking with the associates 
one on one . . . and having group meetings.”830  Boyd added that, as Mallett had explained, 
Gneiting and Williams during their stay at the store walked around “talking to associates—
anything you needed, you came to talk to them, and they would take care of it.”831  
MacDonald commented, “No one from Bentonville had done this before.”832  
  
A day or two after the Labor Relations Team arrived, roughly thirty employees from the Aiken 
personnel office were called to attend another meeting, which Mallett began and then 
turned over to Williams.  At that meeting, Williams reportedly explained that Wal-Mart was 
not anti-union but that he felt that the employees did not need a “third party.”  He further 
noted that “all the Union was interested in was collecting Union dues, and while the Union 
promised better wages and benefits, Wal-Mart would have the final say” and that “if they 
signed a union authorization card, they would be signing away all of their rights.”833   
 
After these initial meetings, Wal-Mart’s Labor Relations Team continued to hold large- and 
small-group store meetings to discuss union formation.834  For example, the talking points 
prepared for the manager charged with running a July 24, 2001, meeting stated, in relevant 
part: 
 

• A union organizer can make all kinds of promises, but you have to wonder if 
the union really has the power to deliver on the promises they’ve been 
making to people. 

 

• It’s impossible for a union organizer to say what your wages and benefits 
will be if the union wins an election.  Even when an election is held and the 
union wins, all the union can do is sit down at the negotiations table and 
ask the company for what they’ve been promising employees.  That’s all, 
just ask. 

 

                                                      
830 Human Rights Watch interview with Liz Boyd, June 15, 2005. 

831 Ibid. 

832 Human Rights Watch interview with Kathleen MacDonald, June 12, 2005. 

833 Decision and Order, Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., NLRB Div. of Judges, Case Nos. 11-CA-19105, 11-CA-19121 (September 10, 2003). 

834 Ibid. 
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• Certainly, all of us understand that the UFCW has its own agenda.  To fight 
Wal-Marts [sic] growth and at the same time to try and convince Wal-Mart 
associates to join the very union that is attempting to destroy our 
company.835   

 
According to the talking points prepared for a July 26, 2001, meeting, the manager running 
the meeting explained to workers that union dues for workers at the store would be 
“approximately $28 a pay period or $56 a month or $728 a year for someone to speak for 
you.”  The talking points added, “Personally, I don’t think you should have to pay your hard-
earned money to a union when your [sic] not guaranteed anything in return.”  The talking 
points continued: 
  

• Another thing is that you don’t have control over how much union dues are 
and if they will be increased. . . .  Without warning and without voting the 
President of local 99 [in Arizona] sent out a video tape to each member 
making them aware that their membership dues would double for at least 5 
months.  The reason for the doubling of membership dues was to attack 
Wal-Mart and discourage customers from shopping at the company you and 
I work for. 

 

• I would encourage you to get all the facts about the union and think long 
and hard about what their motivation really is.  And ask yourself this 
question.  Is the union organizing associates because they really care about 
you and your family or are their [sic] alternative motives involved?836 

 
During the store meetings, Williams told the Aiken workers that he knew there was talk 
about a union at the store but that they “should not pay attention to what the Union was 
saying” because “the Company was there to help the employees and they would not steer 
the employees wrong.”837   
 

Videos Highlighting Negative Consequences of Union Formation 

On the afternoon that Williams arrived at the Aiken store, he began showing workers a video 
entitled “Sign Now, Pay Later,” which explained union authorization cards.838  This was 
reportedly the first of several videos addressing union formation shown to the workers.  Liz 

                                                      
835 Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., “Store Talking Points, Store 515 [sic], Aiken, South Carolina,” July 24, 2001 (on file with Human 
Rights Watch). 
836 Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., “Store Talking Points, #514, Aiken, South Carolina,” July 26, 2001 (on file with Human Rights Watch).  

837 Decision and Order, Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., NLRB Div. of Judges, Case Nos. 11-CA-19105, 11-CA-19121 (September 10, 2003). 
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Boyd estimated that “within a week, we saw three to four videos” like this.839  Workers told 
Human Rights Watch that the videos were roughly thirty minutes long and that the workers 
were called to view them in groups of between ten and twenty.  As in the other cases, after 
each viewing, there was a question and answer period.      
 
According to Wal-Mart internal documents, one video addressed collective bargaining and 
included a segment entitled “Management has Rights, Too,” during which the narrator 
stated, “If the union’s making promises that are too good to be true, they probably are.”840  
Talking points produced for the management representatives showing the video told them to 
explain to workers prior to viewing, “We want you to have all the facts about unions, and 
more fully understand the process of how the union tries to get what they have promised to 
people.  And what power they really have to get the things they have promised.”  The talking 
points instructed the management representative to tell workers after the video concluded: 
 

• So we’ve learned that during collective bargaining, everything you currently 
have in terms of wages, benefits, and working conditions would go on the 
bargaining table.  Both sides could make proposals, and they could be for 
something better or worse than you already have.  Why wouldn’t the UFCW 
explain to you how all of that works? 

 

• Why wouldn’t the union explain to you the Management Rights clause that 
is in almost every contract?  They don’t want you to know that store 
management will continue to operate the day to day business of the store 
as seen most appropriate for the business.841 

 
Aiken workers explained that although one video “was about Sam and how the company 
started and how Wal-Mart looks out for its people,”842 most of the videos contained union-
related dramatizations or skits.  The videos were similar to those viewed by workers in the 
Greeley, Colorado, Kingman, Arizona, and New Castle, Pennsylvania, cases.  They told 
workers that unions would not help them “in any kind of way” and “just wanted [their] 
money” and cautioned that workers would no longer be able to speak for themselves if they 
organized.843     
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Boyd recalled one video skit in which “someone’s plant got voted union and they got less 
benefits than before the union.  They didn’t gain anything, but they still take union dues out 
of your salary.”844  She recalled another skit: 
 

There were two Wal-Mart associates with smocks.  One brought up [the union] 
and said, “I hear if a union comes in, we’ll all get big raises.”  And the other 
says, “That’s not true.  My uncle worked at a store that got a union, and they 
had to close because they couldn’t pay these huge salaries.”  The 
understanding behind that was that it’s better to have low-paying jobs than 
no jobs.845 

 
MacDonald described watching the same skit that Greeley, Colorado, Wal-Mart worker 
Christine Stroup recalled for Human Rights Watch, in which a man holding a baseball notes 
that it would be worth a lot more with players’ signatures, just like union cards are worth 
more when signed.  MacDonald added: 
 

Then they showed an example of two women, one disgruntled.  [The film said 
that it] usually starts with one disgruntled employee. . . .  The union will hold 
a meeting in a hotel room.  They will have a lavish party and promise all 
kinds of things, but they can’t deliver.  They will try to talk you into signing 
union cards.846 

 
Boyd concluded, “When they send union busters in, they show you endless videos and tell 
you that even if . . . the store votes union, Wal-Mart still has the right to do what they want to 
do.  They tell you that even if you vote in the union, you might not get everything the union 
promises.”847   
 

Discriminatory Application of Solicitation Rules 
Near the end of July 2001, store manager Mallett called Barbara “Tippy” Hall, a worker in the 
Aiken store’s accounting department, into his office and disciplined her for violating Wal-
Mart’s solicitation policy.848  Mallett testified at the NLRB hearing in the case that he gave 
Hall a verbal “coaching,” the first phase of Wal-Mart’s disciplinary procedures, because 
several employees had reported to him that she had asked them for their telephone 
numbers and asked whether they would be interested in supporting the union.  Mallett 
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Discounting Rights 186

explained that he showed Hall Wal-Mart’s solicitation policy and told her that she could not 
solicit or “detain others while they were working.”  Hall testified, however, that Mallett told 
her that she “couldn't talk on or off the clock in the store on the sales floor and if he caught 
me talking to anyone that he was going to write me up for anything that he seen fit.”849     
 
Around the same time, Mallett also called Kathleen MacDonald into his office.850  Mallett 
explained at the NLRB hearing that he also read MacDonald the company’s solicitation 
policy and gave her a verbal coaching for violating that policy by asking two bakery workers 
for their telephone numbers during work time to gauge their interest in attending a union 
meeting.  Mallett testified that he told MacDonald that Wal-Mart does not allow solicitation 
“for the work areas and when you're on the clock.”851  Like Hall, however, MacDonald stated 
at the hearing that Mallett told her that she “was not allowed to speak on the clock in the 
store about anything, work related or non-work related.”852  MacDonald told Human Rights 
Watch, “I was not allowed to speak at all on the sales floor.  I was only allowed to speak at 
lunch and on break.”853  
 
Both Hall and MacDonald asserted at the hearing that Aiken Wal-Mart employees and 
supervisors regularly spoke about non-work-related subjects with each other during work 
time and that before the July meeting, they had never been told that there was a limit on 
what employees could discuss with each other on the sales floor.854  MacDonald further 
noted that almost every day she had spoken with managers on the sales floor about non-
work-related topics.  She told Human Rights Watch, “I had always talked to people.  I was 
talking to one associate about her doctor, another about her beauty shop, one about 
football. . . .  Tim [Mallett] and I would talk all the time about [US professional] football.  He’s 
a [New Orleans] Saints fan, and I’m a [New England] Patriots fan.”855 
 
Mallett acknowledged that the solicitation policy in effect at the time did not ban workers 
from talking with each other about non-work-related matters or exchanging telephone 
numbers while working, as long as it did not interfere with their work.856  At the NLRB hearing, 
Wal-Mart denied that Mallett issued a “no-talking” rule to MacDonald and Hall and that he 
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applied the solicitation policy disparately against them.  Wal-Mart argued that MacDonald 
and Hall simply took the verbal warning “to an extreme” when they interpreted it as banning 
them from talking at any time on the sales floor.857 
 
The administrative law judge rejected Wal-Mart’s arguments: 
 

The problem with Mallett's approach during his meetings with MacDonald 
and Hall is that these two employees were not soliciting in the first place.  To 
ask an employee for their telephone number to discuss the Union, if the 
employee is interested, after work is not soliciting by any stretch of the 
imagination.  Wal-Mart does not have a rule prohibiting one employee from 
asking another employee for their telephone number.  So it is easy to 
understand in the confusion created by Mallett how MacDonald and Hall 
would interpret what Mallet was trying to convey as a prohibition against 
talking on the sales floor.858 

 

The ALJ continued: 
 

Mallett was not acting in good faith.  Either at the behest of or with the explicit 
approval of Wal-Mart's home office he was enforcing a policy that [Wal-Mart] 
knew was problematic.  Additionally, Hall and MacDonald were treated 
disparately.  Employees were allowed to discuss non-work-related topics while 
they were working either on the sales floor or in a work area.  While they were 
doing the same thing, Hall and MacDonald were disciplined because the non-
work-related topic they spoke about was a Union meeting.859 
 

In addition, other workers and outside vendors regularly violated the solicitation policy when 
they sold items, according to MacDonald: 
 

After the NLRB hearing, we walked into the store and there was a guy selling 
leather belts.  He was set up in front of the men’s department selling leather 
belts, wallets.  He was independent. . . .  Girl Scouts sold cookies. . . .  There 
is a lady who sells boiled peanuts out of a peanut cart . . . on the 

                                                      
857 Ibid. 

858 Ibid. 

859 Ibid.  In a 2004 decision, however, the five-member NLRB upheld an employer’s ban on solicitation and the promotion of 
support for organizations, activities, or causes.  The judge found the rule valid on its face and as applied against a union 
supporter, noting that an employer could lawfully permit talking in the workplace about matters such as “Sunday’s football 
game,” while at the same time banning all talk that attempted to “‘persuade’ fellow employees to support a cause,” such as 
union formation. Washington Fruit and Produce Company, 343 NLRB No. 125 (2004).  



 

Discounting Rights 188

sidewalk. . . .  Disabled American vets sell those felt things on the 
sidewalk.860 

 

The NLRB administrative law judge held: 
 

Wal-Mart with its own Labor Department and legal staff could not get the 
solicitation policy right. . . .  Mallett’s telling MacDonald and Hall that what 
they did was prohibited solicitation is neither correct in fact nor as a matter 
of law.  Mallett was citing an unlawful policy and he was making the facts out 
to be something other then what they were. . . .  Mallett’s testimony on this 
matter is not credited.  [Wal-Mart] and Mallett created the situation.  [Wal-
Mart] must suffer the consequences.861 

 
The ALJ found that Wal-Mart had acted unlawfully and ordered the company to remove any 
reference to MacDonald’s and Hall’s verbal reprimands from its files and to notify Hall and 
MacDonald that it had done so and that the company would not use the warnings against 
them in the future.  The judge further ordered Wal-Mart to rescind the “no-talking rule” and 
advise the workers of the change.862 
 

Addressing Worker Concerns to Undermine Union Activity 
In early May, shortly after becoming Aiken store manager, Mallett granted two employees’ 
requests for raises after reviewing their salaries and determining that they were below the 
levels appropriate for their areas and seniority.863  After the adjustments, Mallett reportedly 
told district manager Torgerson and regional personnel manager Cannon that he had reviewed 
a report listing every worker, their pay, their areas, and their length of service and thought that 
pay-rate problems were widespread.  Mallett asked Cannon for a survey that would indicate 
each worker’s tenure with the company, job responsibilities, and salary.  Cannon requested 
approval for the survey from Wal-Mart’s regional and divisional offices “shortly after” arriving 
at the store and only after learning that MacDonald believed that pay equity was a major 
concern for workers.864  The administrative law judge in the case observed, “In other words, 
only after a member of the Labor Relations Team was told by chief union adherent MacDonald 
that pay was an issue, were concrete steps taken—working up a wage compression report—to 
reach a determination with respect to any pay increase.”865   
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At the end of June, Wal-Mart managers held another meeting for between forty and sixty 
workers in the break room.866  Graham testified at the hearing that at the meeting, Mallett 
acknowledged that there were problems at the store and said that he “was going to straighten 
them out.”  In particular, Mallett said that there were “things with the raises that needed to be 
taken care of” and that he would ask assistant manager Bill Shriver to talk to the employees to 
“find out where everybody needed to be, get things straightened out, and bring everybody up 
to standards.”  At the NLRB hearing, Mallett denied ever promising wage increases.867   
 

The wage compression salary adjustments—the first of their kind at Aiken—were approved 
and went into effect after managers learned of union activity at the store.  Ninety of the 
roughly 425 workers reportedly received raises and were told that the increases were not 
based on merit but were designed to narrow the pay gap between long-time Wal-Mart 
workers and new employees.868   
 

Commenting on the wage increases, Graham told Human Rights Watch, “I think the raises 
were because of the union.  Otherwise, they wouldn’t have gotten them.  We hadn’t been 
getting raises like we were supposed to in a timely manner.”  She added that she thinks that 
Wal-Mart granted raises so that Aiken workers “would think they were giving them more.  Why 
would this happen when the union was there?  They [workers] were dumb enough to fall for the 
few cents when they could have gotten more with the union helping them.”869  Boyd agreed: 
 

I think the raises were to show that they were looking out for us.  The pay was 
never mentioned before that.  We couldn’t discuss it. . . .  It was a pay off so that 
they wouldn’t vote for the union.  Then after they got the little bit of money, “Why 
do we need a union?  We don’t need the union.  They’re just going to take our 
money—the union dues.” . . .  The raises had an impact on union support.870 

 

At the hearing, Wal-Mart denied that the wage increases were an attempt to undermine 
union organizing efforts.  The company claimed that the salary review began before the 
union activity, that wage increases were never discussed in the context of worker organizing, 
that the wide scope of the raises demonstrated that they were not used to squelch union 
organizing, and that there was no evidence that raises were awarded based on workers’ 
union sympathies.  The company also noted that similar raises were given at two other 
stores around the same time, neither of which was facing a union campaign.871    
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The ALJ rejected Wal-Mart’s defense and found, “It has not been shown that [Wal-Mart] 
began in earnest its effort to determine if employees should be granted a wage increase until 
after Wal-Mart was aware of the union organizing drive and MacDonald told Gneiting that 
pay was an issue.”  The ALJ further noted that only after union activity was known in the store 
did Mallett assure the workers that their salaries would be “brought up to the standards on 
raises” and then implement the promised raises.  The ALJ concluded that Wal-Mart, therefore, 
acted illegally by promising and granting wage increases during the organizing drive to 
undermine support for the union.872   
 

Impact of Wal-Mart’s Strategy to Defeat Union Organizing 
Current and former Aiken, South Carolina, Wal-Mart workers described to Human Rights Watch the effect of the 
Labor Relations Team meetings, the regular interactions with high-level management, the anti-union videos, 
and the other components of Wal-Mart’s strategy to derail organizing efforts at the store.  Georgia Graham 
explained, “Everybody just got hush, hush.  They saw videos, and the talks, and the morning meetings, and 
everyone started getting afraid because no one had ever come from home office before to address any kind of 
concerns.”873  Liz Boyd similarly explained: 
 

They send in Garth [and] Kirk—it’s intimidating.  They show you the films and tell you that even with the union, 
you might not be better off because of union dues.  They make you feel like you’re scum of the earth for thinking 
of doing that to your company.874 
 

When Human Rights Watch asked workers why the union campaign in Aiken failed, most responded that 
workers were afraid of being fired for supporting the union.  “Pat Quinn” answered, “Everybody was scared of 
losing their jobs.  They thought they’d lose their jobs because Wal-Mart would retaliate against you. . . .  They 
thought they would fire people because of the union.”  She added, “I’d be in trouble if they knew I was sitting 
here talking to you.”875  “Chris Davis” also explained, “I think the union failed because a lot of them were 
scared to come forward, scared for their jobs.  That’s exactly the reason I didn’t sign up.”876  She elaborated: 
 

I didn’t go talk to anyone because I’m scared of my job. . . .  I never went to any union meetings.  I was scared 
to. . . .  Some of the girls, other associates, would say that if Wal-Mart would get wind of [my involvement with] 
the union, I’d be fired.877 
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Post-script 
Between June 28, 2001, and August 20, 2002, the UFCW filed and amended charges against 
Wal-Mart alleging illegal anti-union conduct at the Aiken, South Carolina, store.  The NLRB 
issued a complaint on August 28, 2002, and on September 10, 2003, an NLRB administrative 
law judge found Wal-Mart guilty of four unfair labor practices: (1) promising to improve 
employee wages to undermine union support; (2) fulfilling that promise to grant raises; (3) 
promulgating and enforcing an unlawful no-talking rule to discourage union activity; and (4) 
disciplining Hall and MacDonald for violating the illegal no-talking rule.  The judge ordered 
Wal-Mart to take the specific steps necessary to remedy the illegal conduct and to post a 
notice to employees at the store briefly stating their rights under the NLRA and promising to 
cease and desist from the specific unlawful activity cited in the ALJ’s decision.878  Wal-Mart 
reportedly complied, and on February 27, 2004, the case was closed.  By then, organizing 
efforts and union support had long-since faded, however, and workers have made no 
subsequent attempts to form a union at the store.      
 

Loveland, Colorado, Store Number 953 
 

“There’s not really talk about forming a union again.  We got burned out from 
negativity.  That’s hard work.” 
—Alicia Sylvia, Loveland, Colorado, Wal-Mart TLE worker and union 
supporter.879 

 
The union organizing campaign at the Loveland, Colorado, Wal-Mart’s Tire and Lube Express 
began in November 2004 after Josh Noble, a TLE worker, contacted the UFCW.880  Noble 
explained to Human Rights Watch:  
 

Since the store’s been open, there have been four to five of us who were in 
that first group of people hired, and we saw things go down hill.  Low 
morale—every day someone would say, . . . “I don’t want to work here 
anymore.”  Same stuff we’d complain about—not getting lunches or breaks 
on time, [being] asked to do jobs that are not part of our job descriptions.  
We got fed up with that.   

 
He added, “After work, . . . I searched the Internet to see if anything would help me out.  I 
kept getting the union web sites.”881  Six TLE workers reportedly came to the first union 
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meeting and signed union cards.  Over the next few weeks, an additional three TLE workers 
reportedly signed cards, as well.882  On November 16, 2004, the union filed a petition for a 
union election in the TLE.883  
 
Josh Noble and Alicia Sylvia, Loveland TLE workers and union supporters, believe that Wal-
Mart learned about the union meeting roughly on the same day it was held.884  Noble told 
Human Rights Watch that on the day of the first union meeting, a fellow TLE worker, “a 
younger guy,” discussed the upcoming meeting with another TLE worker while on break.  
Noble recounted that the older TLE worker told his younger colleague that he “can’t do that” 
and “it’s not allowed at Wal-Mart” and that he “needed to speak to the store manager.”  
According to Noble: 
 

Before he [the younger TLE worker] got off break, they had the store manager 
come get him, and the store manager questioned him about who was doing 
this, how many people were involved, how long we had been speaking with 
the union. . . .  This was one store manager and two assistants who 
questioned this guy.  After he got back from break, another associate asked 
if he was coming [to the union meeting], and he said, “Don’t ever talk to me 
about it again.  I don’t want to lose my job.”885 

 
Approximately three Labor Relations Team members reportedly arrived at the store the day 
after the union meeting.886  Sylvia recounted, “We had our first union meeting in . . . a 
restaurant on a Sunday night, and Monday morning, they were there. . . .  Monday morning, 
the team came from Arkansas.”887  Sylvia explained, “The three [Labor Relations Team] guys, 
they would stay there all day.  Sometimes one or two would fly home, but there was always 
one there. . . .  They were there December through February, one person at least, sometimes 
two or three.”888   
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Sylvia, Noble, and “Henry Irwin” (a pseudonym), another Loveland TLE worker speaking to 
Human Rights Watch on condition of anonymity, said that the Labor Relations Team 
members, as well as store management, would walk around the TLE and ask the workers 
how they were doing and whether they had any questions.  According to “Irwin,” who told 
Human Rights Watch that he vehemently opposed the union at the Loveland, Colorado, TLE, 
“Some co-managers and store managers and folks from other parts of the country would be 
there [in the TLE] a lot.  They would walk around.  ‘How you doing?,’ trying to be someone you 
can go to talk to.”889   
 
“Irwin” further recalled for Human Rights Watch: 
 

A big attorney came in and said he used to work for other companies.  He 
was their attorney, and he helped them fight the union, and he let us know 
that he had not lost. . . .  By his appearance, 6’10,” . . . [and he] said he was 
an attorney—[the] intimidation factor, you think, “What the hell [are] we 
doing?  We’re small fish in a big pond.”890  

 
According to Loveland, Colorado, Wal-Mart workers, Wal-Mart engaged in a vigorous 
campaign to defeat worker organizing at the store, which included conduct that, if proven, 
would violate US law.  For reasons unclear to Human Rights Watch, however, the union never 
filed unfair labor practice charges in this case, and the NLRB has therefore not ruled on the 
anti-union tactics recounted to Human Rights Watch.   

 

Group Meetings with Workers Storewide 
According to Noble and Sylvia, within a few days of the first union meeting, the Labor 
Relations Team had held store-wide meetings to discuss union formation with workers.  
“Irwin” and Sylvia recounted to Human Rights Watch how the Labor Relations Team focused 
on the collective bargaining process during the meetings and “about how it’s like writing a 
book—everything is up for bargaining, from the discount card to benefits to insurance.”  
They explained that the team members emphasized that workers could lose benefits 
through the bargaining process, listing the various perks that could be taken away.  “Irwin” 
commented, “[It was] pretty much a scare tactic.”891  Sylvia added: 
 

They said you could make less money than you make now, and [they] will 
take out money for dues. . . .  They said if 50 percent plus one voted for it, 
they would automatically take out union dues.  So, people were in a panic.  
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They didn’t say that we’d have better benefits, better pay. . . .  I wanted to 
stand up and say, “What about the other side?,” but I was sweating and I 
wanted to get out of there.  They were staring at me.892 

 

Dividing the Store 

Sylvia explained to Human Rights Watch that she felt that Wal-Mart used the meetings with 
workers throughout the Loveland store “to turn other associates against us to try to shame 
us into going the other way,”893 making it increasingly unpleasant to be a union supporter at 
the store.  She elaborated: 
 

The very first anti-union meeting, they separated all the TLE members.  They 
tell you what time you have to go. . . .  They separated us out and put us 
among all the other members of the store.  People were giving me dirty looks, 
comments like, “Curiosity killed the cat,” and I’m the only [union supporter] 
there, and they’re all staring at me like I’m the demon person from hell.894 

 

She added, “All the other employees in the store turned on us. . . .  So, we all stayed in 
groups.  [We got] dirty looks, stares, comments—if looks could kill from other workers.”895 
 
Noble concurred and further noted that he believed that Wal-Mart adopted the same 
approach when Loveland managers assigned workers to small groups to view “anti-union 
videos.”  Noble explained:  
 

They set up viewing sessions for thirty-five to forty associates in the 
personnel office—for the whole store.  They did this for a little over a week.  
They would have one to two TLE associates per group.  Everyone from TLE felt 
it was an intimidation-type thing.  People would be staring at them, making 
remarks and comments.896 

 

Videos and PowerPoint Presentations Highlighting Negative Consequences of Union 
Formation 

According to Noble and “Irwin,” Labor Relations Team members included videos and 
PowerPoint presentations about unions in their group meetings for workers during the 
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organizing drive.  Noble told Human Rights Watch, “We saw the same videos we saw during 
orientation and two different videos and a slide show [a PowerPoint presentation].  The 
videos were the same deal as training—how bad the union is, what happens to the store.”  
He explained that the videos emphasized “how tight-knit Wal-Mart employees are now” and 
that, with the union, “They couldn’t be that way anymore.”  The videos also reportedly 
focused on collective bargaining and the possibility that “wages could be cut drastically” 
and “then union dues on top of that.”897 
 
“Irwin” also described to Human Rights Watch a video that portrayed union organizers as 
persistent and harassing.  He explained that the video asked, “Do you want to be bothered 
at your house?”898  He continued: 
 

[It] illustrates them [union organizers] as harassers.  They’ll call you up.  
They’ll say anything to get inside your doorway. . . .  [There were] role players 
acting out, an actor as a union rep. . . .  It showed union reps chasing down 
cars, harassment in the parking lot.  They’re like flies—they keep coming 
around.  In the workplace, [they’re] talking about it on the clock. . . .  When 
[workers] told reps or other associates that they don’t want a union, no, not 
good enough.  They keep harassing.899 

 
“Irwin” also recalled for Human Rights Watch another video that showed unions in the 
United States in the late 1930s and 1940s during World Wars I and II.  According to “Irwin,” 
the videos suggested that at that time, there was a “purpose” for unions “and what they did, 
but the union has outlived its purpose because companies now take better care of . . . 
employees.”  He explained that the video showed “how the union is dying out.  [It] gave a 
chart on how they were years ago and where they’re at now.  The union wants Wal-Mart.  It 
has a dwindling pot.  [It] would go back up [with Wal-Mart].”900 
 
In addition to the videos, Noble described a PowerPoint presentation that the Labor 
Relations Team showed Loveland workers, noting that the primary goal appeared to be to 
provide a comparison between Wal-Mart workers’ current salaries and benefits and “what 
union members make and pay towards benefits and dues.”  He explained that in an attempt 
to show “how much better Wal-Mart is,” the presentation “would show bits and pieces of the 
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union plan and then go into detail about Wal-Mart.”901  Noble added, “Every corner of the 
slide said ‘Vote no,’ with a little box with a check mark that said ‘Vote no.’”902 
 
Noble and Sylvia told Human Rights Watch that after the initial meetings with workers 
storewide, the Labor Relations Team focused almost exclusively on the TLE workers until the 
days immediately preceding the election, at which point meetings with workers throughout 
the Loveland store resumed.  Noble said that at that time, “There was at least one small 
meeting a day.  Towards the end, there were ten to fifteen people in each group.  They 
always mixed TLE and store people.  At those meetings, [there was] a refresher on why the 
Labor Relations Team was there and more of a question and answer session.”903 
 

Group Meetings with TLE Workers 
Noble and Sylvia explained that between the initial meetings with workers throughout the 
store and the final meetings leading up to the election, the Labor Relations Team met with 
TLE workers roughly once or twice a week and occasionally even more frequently.  “Irwin” 
recalled a total of between twelve and thirteen meetings, explaining that there would be two 
or three per week, but then the Labor Relations Team “would leave [us] alone, then [come] 
back.”904  He added, “They almost forced you to go to the meetings.”905  He said, “I didn’t 
want to go, . . . but they came and said, ‘We missed you.  Can we get you in?’”906   
 
“Irwin,” Noble, and Sylvia told Human Rights Watch that these meetings highlighted the 
possibility of labor strikes.  Noble explained, “[They] stressed striking.  If negotiations didn’t 
go well, there was a good chance there’d be a strike. . . .  If the union didn’t agree to 
something in the negotiations, we could be on strike for a few weeks or a couple of months, 
and we wouldn’t get paid.”907  “Irwin” recalled: 
 

They showed the strike in California, a lot of it. . . .  They showed how much 
[you] get paid, like 60 percent.  Then [it] goes down after a time period ‘till 
the pot is done.  [You can be] on strike for years and without a job.  Once the 
pot runs out, you’re on your own, and there is no guarantee you’d have your 
job at Wal-Mart. . . .  They told us on strike, Wal-Mart would keep the store 

                                                      
901 Human Rights Watch interview with Josh Noble, July 16, 2005. 

902 Ibid. 

903 Ibid. 

904 Human Rights Watch interview with “Henry Irwin,” July 19, 2005. 

905 Ibid. 

906 Ibid. 

907 Human Rights Watch interview with Josh Noble, July 16, 2005. 
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running, and once you come back, there’s no guarantee of your positions 
back.  [You’d] have to see what is available.908 

 
Sylvia added: 
 

It got so bad with the anti-union meetings—they were pulling us five or six at 
a time. . . .  They had one [newspaper clip] of the California strike with the 
grocery workers.  They said you can’t cross the line and go to work. . . .  [They 
had] newspaper articles, pictures of people striking.  They would say, “Look 
at these guys getting ready to go on strike.  It might be months or years 
before they go back to work.”909    

 
According to “Irwin,” the meetings also emphasized union dues and how unions spend 
workers’ money.  He explained: 
 

They showed how much dues go to the office, rental cars, . . . how they spend 
your money, like a pie chart.  They showed us so much stuff.  They said a very 
small percentage went to workers.  They show how much [they] spend in 
office furniture, you name it.910 

 
Commenting on the impact of the Labor Relations Team meetings, Sylvia explained that they 
even made her, a union supporter, fear a possibly terrible future if workers organized: “They 
tried every scare tactic, and it was starting to work. . . .  They had us really scared.  At first, 
you can fight it in your mind, but then you just get more and more scared.”911 
 

Discriminatory Application of Solicitation Rules 
“Irwin” told Human Rights Watch that although “it was okay for Wal-Mart to have meetings 
about the union, to have meetings about collective bargaining, . . . it was not okay for the 
union people to talk about it on the clock.  Kind of a double standard.”  He elaborated: 
 

The union people were not allowed to talk about the union on the clock or on 
the sales floor, not on Wal-Mart’s property. . .  I got the impression they 
couldn’t talk about it outside either because it would be soliciting.  [Wal-Mart] 
allowed Girl Scout cookies; a wax company, Pennzoil, to demonstrate car 

                                                      
908 Human Rights Watch interview with “Henry Irwin,” July 19, 2005. 

909 Human Rights Watch interview with Alicia Sylvia, July 15, 2005. 

910 Human Rights Watch interview with “Henry Irwin,” July 19, 2005. 

911 Human Rights Watch interview with Alicia Sylvia, July 15, 2005. 
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waxing in the parking lot; . . . [and] high school kids had car washes in the 
parking lot.912 

 
Noble added that shortly after the Loveland TLE workers’ first union meeting, the Labor 
Relations Team met with TLE workers: 
 

They said we couldn’t talk about the union at work, even on break, on Wal-
Mart property. . . .  The Labor Relations Team said we were not allowed to 
have any union literature anywhere in the store.  We could be fired for that 
because it was soliciting.  A couple of us asked about an open card signing 
when union members would sit in the break room and answer questions or 
give [out] literature to read.  They said we can’t allow that because that’s 
soliciting.  You could be fired for handing out literature, even in the break 
room.  So, no one tried.  People sold Girl Scout cookies outside at the front 
doors on Wal-Mart property.  High schools have car washes in the parking lot 
to raise money for school events. . . .  [But unions were treated differently.] 
They told us nothing, no union literature on Wal-Mart property, and they said 
that the parking lot is considered Wal-Mart property.913       

 

Surveillance of Union Activity and Discriminatory Policy Application 
Noble, Sylvia, and “Irwin” also told Human Rights Watch that after the organizing drive 
began, Loveland store managers and Labor Relations Team members regularly were in the 
TLE to observe operations.  According to the three workers, prior to the organizing campaign, 
store managers rarely visited the TLE.  “Irwin” explained to Human Rights Watch, “Store 
managers not in automotive came out to the TLE.  [They] tried to be friendly.  They didn’t do 
that before.”914  Similarly, Noble explained, “Before, the main store managers were never 
around.  We had our own [TLE] managers.  Any time we had to go to managers, we’d go to our 
own.  But after the word ‘union’ came about, [there was] always a store manager.”915  The 
Labor Relations team also observed TLE activities, and according to Noble:  
 

With the Labor Relations Team, you always felt like someone was over your 
shoulder.  Between the automotive section and the TLE, there would be two 
or three guys from the Labor Relations Team just watching through the 
window . . . where customers can watch you work on their cars. . . .  You 

                                                      
912 Human Rights Watch interview with “Henry Irwin,” July 19, 2005; see also, Human Rights Watch interview with Josh Noble, 
July 16, 2005. 
913 Human Rights Watch interview with Josh Noble, July 16, 2005. 

914 Human Rights Watch interview with “Henry Irwin,” July 19, 2005. 

915 Human Rights Watch interview with Josh Noble, July 16, 2005. 
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would be changing oil, and you would just look up, and someone would be 
watching you. . . .  Throughout the day, they would switch off to make sure 
there was always one person at least from the Labor Relations Team so they 
could report back. . . .  It’s passive-aggressive intimidation.  They’re always 
there to watch what you’re doing and how you perform your job.916 

 
Sylvia added that she felt like “they were constantly on your back to try to catch you doing 
something wrong.  They make you nervous so you mess up.”917  For example, Sylvia 
recounted to Human Rights Watch that on the same day she chose not to attend one of the 
management-run meetings about unions, she was disciplined for swearing in the TLE.  She 
explained that although managers had told her that the meetings were voluntary, she knew 
that “they wanted me to go.”918  She told Human Rights Watch that “the guys swear all the 
time” in the TLE without being disciplined, and she attributed her reprimand to her support 
for the union and failure to attend the educational meeting. 
 
“Irwin” confirmed Sylvia’s suspicions that she was being closely watched because of her 
union activity, adding that because Wal-Mart knew that he was against the union, “I was the 
person they’d go to for help” collecting information on TLE workers.  He explained that “a 
few people gave information to managers. . . .  I was one of the main ones, but there were a 
couple of others.”919  He elaborated: 
 

Some of it was voluntary, and some, like, “You know me; I know you; let’s 
take care of this” kind of thing. . . .  They told me I’d be taken care of.  “Hey, 
we understand you signed up for the management program.  We know you 
want that”—that carrot. . . .  I was the person they’d go to for help. . . .  You 
get the feeling that you were doing something good for them, and I felt I’d be 
taken care of because, without being asked, I’d give them information. . . .  
My hours were switched to help.  I volunteered to switch hours to work with 
certain folks that were on the [pro-union] list. . . .  Anything they would do 
wrong, I’d make a statement on them—cell phone on company time, a couple 
of others.  [We] would watch to see if the people on that list were violating 
policy and then report and make a statement.  [They] had everyone going 
about it with one another, not just me.920   

 

                                                      
916 Ibid. 

917 Human Rights Watch interview with Alicia Sylvia, July 15, 2005. 

918 Ibid. 

919 Human Rights Watch interview with “Henry Irwin,” July 19, 2005. 

920 Ibid. 
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“Irwin” explained that he would also try to persuade some of the union supporters to 
reconsider their stance.  He said, “I volunteered on a couple of the associates.  I was asked 
to work with a couple of them.  I [would] tell them how I’ve been taken care of, ‘They will take 
care of things.’”  “Irwin” summed up his role in Wal-Mart’s campaign against the union: “The 
ones that [are] worth it, you try to work with them, and the ones that [are] not, you try to get 
them out.  They [Wal-Mart managers] were scared.  They [the union] had over 50 percent.”921 
 

Addressing Worker Concerns to Undermine Union Activity 
According to Noble, Sylvia, and “Irwin,” after the union organizing began, Wal-Mart also 
“started making improvements” to the Loveland TLE facilities.  Noble commented to Human 
Rights Watch, “It was like a whole makeover, remodeling of the TLE area.”922  Sylvia added, 
“They put in washable panels and hung up pictures with certificates.  They tried to spruce it 
up.”923  “Irwin” explained, “In the TLE, they minimized arguments, complaints to make sure 
the associates can’t say they don’t have proper tools or equipment.  [They] made sure to 
minimize the situation to make sure it looks like [they’re] taking care of the associates.  
‘What are you crying about?’”924  “Irwin” elaborated: 
 

[They] made sure [they] ordered new tools.  Before, they weren’t on it, . . . 
painting the trim, panels on the ground.  [They] put in new linoleum, painted 
[the] restroom, painted where [they] put clothes and the sales floor around 
the counter.  [They] changed the whole appearance. . . .  Before, things 
weren’t being taken care of, but during the time that there was union activity, 
they made sure it was taken care of. . . .  They treated them so well.  Take 
away their complaints and kill them with kindness so they didn’t have 
anything to say.925 

 
Noble expanded further:    
 

Like four new people [were] transferred in.  We had kept asking for more help.  
Cars would leave because we couldn’t get to them in time.  Then with the 
union, they brought in new people. 
 

. . . 
 

                                                      
921 Ibid. 

922 Human Rights Watch interview with Josh Noble, July 16, 2005. 

923 Human Rights Watch interview with Alicia Sylvia, July 15, 2005. 

924 Human Rights Watch interview with “Henry Irwin,” July 19, 2005. 

925 Ibid. 
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There were lots of improvements.  Towards the very end of the campaign, 
right before the vote, they added trim work, painted the walls differently, put 
up posters . . . of products, painted stripes on the outside where you enter, 
bought newer tools, had floors cleaned.  We used to clean the floors 
ourselves with whatever was on the shelves, but they had a professional 
floor cleaning. 
 

. . .  
 

We didn’t have the tools we needed before.  Our waste oil containers, 
sometimes the pumps didn’t work. . . .  Floors were always coated with oil.  
Most everyone had complained about this to any manager back in the TLE.  
We asked for more supplies.  We would need twice as much as what was 
ordered.  For example, they would order cleaning supplies, but it would not 
be enough.  We couldn’t keep the floor clean with what we had.  Lots of 
people complained about the lack of cleaning supplies.  They said, “We’ll 
see if we can get more.”  They’d check, but then they said they can’t do it this 
time because they have to beat last year’s sales by a certain percentage. 
 

. . .  
 

After the union campaign, all this was taken care of.  Before, the walls were a 
nasty brown.  They repainted the walls with a different color and kind of paint 
so they would be easier to clean.  They ordered new sets of tools.  The floors 
were always clean, so it seems the pumps were fixed.  Before, dumpsters 
outside leaked oil and the southwest corner was always covered with oil 
because filters were not disposed of or just waste oil. . . .  That was cleaned 
up.  And we got the proper amount of cleaning supplies.  Most [of this] 
happened before the election, some after. 
 

. . .   
 

We have our own separate rest room. . . .  Before, we never or rarely had the 
right hand cleaner.  Before the election, they started making sure we always 
had two kinds of soap, regular and the kind with lava rock to get out oil.  
 

. . .   
 

Before the [union] campaign, none of this was taken care of.926 

 

                                                      
926 Human Rights Watch interview with Josh Noble, July 16, 2005. 



 

Discounting Rights 202

As already noted, while workers clearly benefit when employers improve working conditions, 
it is unlawful for an employer to do so to outmaneuver and undermine worker organizing.  
 

Post-script 
The union election was held for the Loveland, Colorado, TLE on February 25, 2005.  There 
were twenty eligible voters.  Only one, Josh Noble, voted for the union, and seventeen voted 
against.927  On March 4, 2005, the UFCW filed objections to the conduct of the election but 
lost its case after it failed to satisfy the “heavy” burden of proof on a party seeking to have a 
Board-supervised election set aside.928  
 

As discussed, no unfair labor practice charges were filed in this case, and as a result, the 
NLRB has not addressed the anti-union tactics that Loveland, Colorado, Wal-Mart workers 
described to Human Rights Watch, including those which, if proven, would be illegal: 
discriminatory application of the company’s solicitation policy, spying on workers’ 
organizing activity, targeting union supporters for store policy violations, and improving 
conditions to undermine union support. 
 

The strategy Wal-Mart implemented to defeat union organizing at the Loveland, Colorado, 
Wal-Mart had a profound impact on Sylvia.  She recounted to Human Rights Watch why, at 
the last minute, she decided to abstain from voting in the union election, though she had 
supported the organizing efforts throughout the campaign: 
 

It was my day off.  I went in, and Dave [from the UFCW] calls me to make sure 
I was going in to vote.  Josh was in the hospital with a seizure, so he couldn’t 
vote.  Demetre had moved.  Cody had gone to school.  Justine had moved.  
Brooks had been given a temporary manager position.  Rob got scared.  I 
knew that me and Josh were the only ones.  Ryan had changed his mind, 
too. . . .  I walked around the store for an hour.  I was so scared.  “Should I do 
it?”  I walked around the store.  I chickened out.  I felt so bad.  They wheeled 
Josh in, and he voted for the union.  I felt like I let him down.  I was scared of 
being the only one, so I didn’t vote. . . .  But if they’re all there and they see 
you go in, they know you voted.  I thought they’d fire me.929 

                                                      
927 Hearing Officer’s Report and Recommendation on Objections, Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., NLRB Region 27, Case No. 27-RC-8356 
(April 27, 2005); Letter from Tovar, October 5, 2006.  
928 Hearing Officer’s Report and Recommendation on Objections, Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., NLRB Region 27, Case No. 27-RC-8356 
(April 27, 2005).  The objections alleged that a TLE service technician threatened Noble in the presence of other TLE workers 
due to his union sympathies and that Wal-Mart failed to take appropriate action and also claimed that Wal-Mart “hired and 
transferred additional employees into the unit to dilute [union] support.”  On April 27, 2005, the NLRB hearing officer 
recommended that the objections be overruled, and on May 25, 2005, the NLRB adopted the recommendation and certified 
the results of the election. Ibid.; Decision and Certification of Results of Election, Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., NLRB, Case No. 27-RC-
8356 (May 25, 2005).  
929 Human Rights Watch interview with Alicia Sylvia, July 15, 2005. 
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XI. Conclusion 
 
Wal-Mart is a global industry leader and arguably a new model for twenty-first century 
business.  Like General Motors in the United States in the 1950s, Wal-Mart’s decisions 
reverberate throughout the US economy and beyond.  The company’s choices on a wide 
range of operating policies matter, and its approach to workers’ rights is no exception.   
 
Instead of leading the way on respect for workers’ rights, however, Wal-Mart has exploited 
the many loopholes in US labor law to undermine workers’ freedom to decide whether to 
organize a union and, in the process, has become a poster child for what is wrong with US 
labor law.  As documented in detail in this report, Wal-Mart has translated its hostility 
towards union formation into an unabashed, sophisticated, and aggressive strategy to derail 
worker organizing at its US stores that violates workers’ internationally recognized right to 
freedom of association.   
 
In most cases, Wal-Mart begins to indoctrinate workers and managers from the moment they 
are hired, stressing in multiple ways, in multiple settings, and through multiple media that 
unions are bad for them and bad for the company.  If workers attempt to organize, the 
company sends its Labor Relations Team from headquarters, which arrives almost 
immediately to try to squash the nascent organizing effort.  These experts from Bentonville, 
Arkansas, rely primarily on tactics that largely comport with US law through which they 
inundate workers with an anti-union message and allow little space for opposing views. 
 
The cumulative effect of these tactics that largely comport with US law is that many workers 
fear expressing pro-union views or even questioning Wal-Mart’s anti-union bias.  With little 
to no access to information about the potential benefits of self-organizing, most workers 
also accept wholesale the company’s relentless, well-honed, negative characterization of 
unions.    
 
Wal-Mart also repeatedly has used illegal tactics that violate international standards to stop 
union formation when workers have begun to organize.  Wal-Mart has unlawfully spied on 
union activity, suddenly improved working conditions and addressed worker complaints to 
undermine union support, threatened workers with benefit loss if they organized, 
discriminatorily fired union supporters, turned a blind eye to a union opponent’s harassment 
of pro-union workers, discriminatorily applied company policies against union supporters, 
transferred union supporters out of and union opponents into proposed bargaining units, 
coercively interrogated workers about union activities, and discriminatorily banned 
discussion about unions.     
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The net result of Wal-Mart’s hard-hitting strategy to defeat worker organizing is that during 
union drives, there is palpable fear among Wal-Mart workers of going against their 
company’s wishes and forming a union.  Wal-Mart’s strategy has worked.  There are no 
unions at Wal-Mart’s US stores.   
 
This is not a model that should be replicated.  Twenty-first century business should not be 
based on violation of workers’ internationally recognized human right to organize trade 
unions for the protection of their interests.  As noted by the Council on Ethics for the 
Norwegian Government Pension Fund-Global, which recommended divestment from Wal-
Mart to avoid potential complicity in serious workers’ rights violations, “Although it is 
legitimate [for Wal-Mart] to take steps to hold down prices on its merchandise and increase 
the company’s profits, it is not legitimate to do so by violating applicable minimum 
standards.”930  If Wal-Mart’s strategy to thwart worker organizing is not stopped, there is 
significant danger that this is precisely the model that will be adopted. 
 
Wal-Mart should change course.  It should immediately put an end to tactics that coercively 
interfere with workers’ decisions on organizing.  Human Rights Watch also urges Wal-Mart, 
as an industry leader, to go further and pledge to remain neutral during union organizing 
campaigns, letting workers decide the matter for themselves.  This would include changing 
internal polices and allowing union representatives reasonable opportunities to present 
their views to workers off the clock in non-work areas of Wal-Mart stores.   
 
As has been outlined in this report, it is also imperative that the US government respond to 
Wal-Mart’s conduct effectively and expeditiously to prevent Wal-Mart from violating workers’ 
right to organize and other companies from emulating Wal-Mart’s conduct.  While in part this 
can be achieved through more rigorous enforcement of existing laws, legislative change is 
also necessary to create a more level playing field for workers attempting to exercise their 
right to freedom of association. 
 
At present, US labor law falls far short of international standards.  Workers in the United 
States have no right to receive in their workplaces a fair balance of employer and union 
views on organizing because union representatives can be banned from responding to an 
employer’s anti-union message and even from distributing union information on company 
property.  Employers can threaten workers with job loss if they strike for economic reasons.  
And penalties for violating protections that do exist are so minimal that they fail to deter 
employers such as Wal-Mart from breaking the law. 
 
Union elections cannot be free and fair when employers face minimal consequences for 
violating US labor law; workers hear almost exclusively anti-union views, underscored by the 

                                                      
930 Recommendation from the Council of Ethics for the Norwegian Government Petroleum Fund, November 15, 2005. 
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inherent power imbalance of the employment relationship; workers have good reason to fear 
permanent replacement if they exercise their right to strike; and, too often, employers spy on 
and interrogate workers to ascertain their union sympathies.   
 
To effectively safeguard the fundamental right of workers to choose whether or not to 
organize, US labor law reform, including enactment of the Employee Free Choice Act, is 
essential.  A more democratic union selection process must be restored by requiring 
employers to recognize union formation based on card check, with safeguards to ensure the 
cards were freely signed.  Penalties for labor law violation must be strengthened.  Employers 
must be banned from permanently replacing striking workers.  Workers must be guaranteed 
the right to hear and receive information about the benefits, not just the risks, of union 
formation.  The National Labor Relations Board, responsible for enforcing US labor law, must 
do so swiftly and effectively, using all tools available to the agency to ensure respect for 
workers’ right to freedom of association. 
 
The importance of preventing Wal-Mart from systematically interfering with workers’ right to 
organize cannot be overstated.  The future of workers’ right to freedom of association is at 
stake when the world’s largest company can regularly violate this fundamental right with 
virtual impunity in the world’s largest economy. 
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          Appendix I: Costs of Wal-Mart’s Healthcare Plans931 

 

                                                      
931 Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., “My Benefits: Your 2007 Associate Benefits Book—Summary Plan Description,” January 1, 2007, pp. 
32-44, 52-53; Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., “My Benefits: Benefits at a Glance,” January 1, 2007, pp. 2-3; Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., 
“Benefits Assessment Memo Statement,” October 26, 2005. 

 

-STANDARD PLAN- 
-VALUE PLAN- 

-VALUE PERFORMANCE PLAN***-

-FREEDOM PLAN - 

-FREEDOM PERFORMANCE PLAN***-

For all plans, a worker must first select the type of coverage: individual or family. 

-NETWORK SAVER PLAN- 
-NETWORK SAVER PERFORMANCE 

PLAN***-

A worker must then select a deductible and corresponding premium.  Deductibles vary according to plan; the higher the deductible, the lower the monthly premium. 

After the deductible has been met:** 

• There is a $20 co-pay for outpatient 
doctor visits. 

• 20% of covered expenses must be 
paid by plan participants for in- and 
out-of-network doctors.  Both apply 
to the coinsurance maximum. 

• 50% of covered expenses must be 
paid by plan participants for out-of-
network inpatient hospital stays.  
This does not apply to the 
coinsurance maximum. 

• Out-of-network and in-network 
doctors may balance bill. 

• ER and ambulance deductibles and 
pharmacy co-pays do not apply to 
the annual deductible. 

Pharmacy coverage:   

• Participants pay a co-pay or  
percentage of retail drug costs, 
whichever is higher, up to the 
$5,000 pharmacy coinsurance 
maximum. 

• Pharmacy coverage differs slightly 
for earlier hires. 

 

After the deductible has been met:** 

• There is a $20 co-pay for outpatient 
in-network doctor visits. 

• 20% of covered expenses must be 
paid by plan participants for in-
network doctors.  This applies to the 
coinsurance maximum.  

• 50% of covered expenses must be 
paid by plan participants for out-of -
network doctors.  This does not 
apply to the coinsurance maximum.  

• Out-of-network doctors may balance 
bill.   

• ER and ambulance deductibles and 
pharmacy co-pays do not apply to 
the annual deductible.   

Pharmacy coverage: 

• Participants pay a co-pay  or  
percentage of retail drug costs, 
whichever is higher, up to the 
$5,000 pharmacy coinsurance 
maximum. 

• Pharmacy coverage differs slightly 
for earlier hires. 

 

Before the deductible has been met:** 

• Each covered family member has a 
$20 co-pay for the first three in-
network doctor visits. 

• Participants must pay the total of 
subsequent doctor visits until the 
deductible has been met. 

After the deductible has been met: 

• There is a $20 co-pay for outpatient 
in-network doctor visits. 

• 20% of covered expenses must be 
paid by plan participants for in-
network doctors.  

• 50% of covered expenses must be 
paid by plan participants for out-of -
network doctors.   

• Out-of-network doctors may balance 
bill.   

• All in-network covered charges, 
including co-pays, coinsurance, and 
deductibles, apply to the out-of-
pocket maximum. 

• ER and ambulance deductibles, per 
event deductibles, and pharmacy co-
pays do not apply to the annual 
deductible. 

Pharmacy coverage: 

• Participants pay $10 co-pays for the 
first three generic prescriptions, then 
full price until meeting the $300 
pharmacy deductible, then a co-pay 
or percentage of retail drug costs, 
whichever is higher, up to the  
medical out-of-pocket maximum. 

 

After the deductible has been met:** 

• There is a $20 co-pay for outpatient in-
network doctor visits. 

• 20% of covered expenses must be 
paid by plan participants for in-
network doctors. 

• 50% of covered expenses must be 
paid by plan participants for out-of -
network doctors.  

• Out-of-network doctors may balance 
bill.   

• All in-network covered charges, 
including co-pays, coinsurance, and 
deductibles, apply to the out-of-
pocket maximum. 

• All covered charges, including 
pharmacy charges, apply to the 
annual deductible.  

• Plan holders qualify for an HSA into 
which workers may contribute pre-tax 
dollars for qualified medical 
expenses; Wal-Mart will annually 
deposit a set amount based on the 
annual deductible into the HSA, and 
match contributions from payroll 
deductions up to an annual limit, 
which varies by plan.  

Pharmacy coverage: 

• Participants pay full retail price for 
prescription drugs until meeting the 
medical deductible, then a co-pay or 
percentage of retail drug costs, 
whichever is higher, up to the medical 
out-of-pocket maximum. 

 

Once the annual out-of-pocket maximum is met under the Freedom and Value Plans and the annual coinsurance maximums are met under the other plans, the plans pay 
100% of most covered expenses.  The coinsurance and out-of-pocket maximums vary according to the coverage chosen.   

* This calculation excludes a $162.50 monthly spousal surcharge. 

** Starting January 2007, participants pay only a $20 co-pay for well-child 
doctor visits, regardless of whether the deductible has been met. 

*** “Performance” plans are offered only in select areas.  They offer virtually 
the same benefits as their non-performance counterparts but with lower 

monthly premiums and smaller networks of doctors and hospitals. 

Deductible and premium options: 
 

Individual Family* 

Deductible 

M
onthly  Prem

ium
 

Deductible 

M
onthly Prem

ium
 

$350 98.85 1,050 341.10 

500 83.65 1,500 295.48 

1,000 49.97 3,000 193.36 

 

Deductible and premium options: 
 

 

Individual Family* 

Deductible 

M
onthly Prem

ium
 

M
onthly Prem

ium
 

(Perform
ance) 

Deductible 

M
onthly Prem

ium
 

M
onthly Prem

ium
 

(Perform
ance) 

$350 86.91 69.52 1,050 309.60 256.37

500 73.87 57.57 1,500 267.23 218.35

1,000 41.28 29.33 3,000 169.46 139.05
 

Deductible and premium options: 
 

 

Individual Family* 

Deductible 

M
onthly Prem

ium
 

M
onthly Prem

ium
 

(Perform
ance) 

Deductible 

M
onthly Prem

ium
 

M
onthly Prem

ium
 

(Perform
ance) 

1,000 22.81 10.86 3,000 65.18 32.60

 

Deductible and premium options: 
 

 

Individual Family* 

Deductible 

M
onthly Prem

ium
 

M
onthly Prem

ium
 

(Perform
ance) 

Deductible 

M
onthly Prem

ium
 

M
onthly Prem

ium
 

(Perform
ance) 

$1,250 47.80 35.85 2,500 140.13 105.37

3,000 17.38 10.86 6,000 52.14 32.60
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Appendix II: Definitions and Illustrations of Key Health Insurance Terms932 

 
                                                      
932 Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., “My Benefits: Your 2007 Associate Benefits Book—Summary Plan Description,” January 1, 2007, 
pp.30-31; Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., “2006 Associate Benefits Book: Summary Plan Description,” January 1, 2006, p. 24; US DOL, 
BLS, “Definitions of Health Insurance Terms,” February 2002, http://www.bls.gov/ncs/ebs/sp/healthterms.pdf (accessed 
December 4, 2006), pp. 1-2, 6.   

BALANCE BILL  

Requires plan participants to pay the difference between the 
actual cost of a medical procedure and the “Maximum 
Allowable Charge” for that procedure.  (See Maximum 
Allowable Charge, below.)  

COINSURANCE  

The pre-determined percentage of covered medical 
expenses, usually between 20% and 50%, that plan 
participants must pay once the annual deductible has been 
met.  Coinsurance payments are subject to annual caps, 
which vary by plan. (See coinsurance maximum, below.)  

COINSURANCE MAXIMUM 

The maximum amount of coinsurance that plan participants 
must pay in a year before the plan will pay 100% of all 
covered expenses for the remainder of that year.  
Coinsurance expenses incurred while using out-of-network 
doctors do not count towards the coinsurance maximum.    

CO-PAY 
The pre-determined amount that plan participants must pay 
for a medical expense, usually due at the time of service.   

COVERED EXPENSES 

Defined by Wal-Mart as “[c]harges for services and supplies 
that are: (1) Medically Necessary, (2) not in excess of Usual, 
Customary, and Reasonable and Maximum Allowable 
Charge, (3) not excluded under the Plan, and (4) not 
otherwise in excess of Plan limits.” 

DEDUCTIBLE 
A set amount of medical costs that plan participants are 
generally required to pay in full each year before the plan 
starts paying a portion of healthcare expenses.   

MAXIMUM ALLOWABLE 

CHARGE (MAC)  

The amount of money, generally negotiated between the 
plan and the healthcare provider, that the plan pays to the 
provider for services rendered in a given geographic area.   

OUT-OF-POCKET 

MAXIMUM 

The maximum amount of money plan participants will pay 
out of pocket in a year before the plan will pay 100% of all 
covered expenses for the remainder of that year.  
Deductibles, co-pays, and coinsurance for in-network 
covered expenses count towards the out-of-pocket 
maximum; monthly premiums do not.   

PER EVENT DEDUCTIBLES 
A pre-determined amount that plan participants must pay 
each time certain medical events occur, regardless of 
whether the annual deductible has been met.   

PREMIUM 
The set amount that plan participants must pay each 
month for healthcare coverage. 

 
WHAT A WAL-MART WORKER 

COVERED BY THE STANDARD PLAN 

COULD PAY FOR ONE MEDICAL 

PROCEDURE: 

_________________________ 

 

MEDICAL 
PROCEDURE.........................$200 
 
MAXIMUM ALLOWABLE 
CHARGE...............................$100  
 
PLAN PAYS 80% OF THE MAC..$80  
 
PLAN PARTICIPANT PAYS 
COINSURANCE, 20% OF THE 
MAC.......................................$20  
 
PROVIDER CAN BALANCE BILL THE 
PARTICIPANT.........................$100 
      _____ 
TOTAL COST TO THE 
PARTICIPANT.......................$120 
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Appendix III: Letter from Wal-Mart to Human Rights Watch 
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Human Rights Watch 
 

Human Rights Watch conducts regular, systematic investigations of human rights abuses in 
some seventy countries around the world.  Our reputation for timely, reliable disclosures has 
made us an essential source of information for those concerned with human rights.  We 
address the human rights practices of governments of all political stripes, of all geopolitical 
alignments, and of all ethnic and religious persuasions.  Human Rights Watch defends 
freedom of thought and expression, due process and equal protection of the law, and a 
vigorous civil society; we document and denounce murders, disappearances, torture, 
arbitrary imprisonment, discrimination, and other abuses of internationally recognized 
human rights.  Our goal is to hold governments accountable if they transgress the rights of 
their people.   
 
Human Rights Watch is an independent, nongovernmental organization, supported by 
contributions from private individuals and foundations worldwide.  It accepts no government 
funds, directly or indirectly, and received no corporate or union funds for the production of 
this report.   
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Notice that the National Labor Relations Board ordered

Wal-Mart to post at its Noblesville, Indiana, store.

© 2003 National Labor Relations Board

Discounting Rights
Wal-Mart’s Violation of US Workers’ Right to Freedom of Association

The right of workers to form and join trade unions is a fundamental human right that the United States is legally
bound to protect. In practice, it falls far short. US labor laws do not meet international norms and permit a wide-
range of employer tactics that interfere with and can ultimately deny workers the right to organize. Penalties for
violating these laws are so weak that they do not deter illegal conduct. Endemic delays in enforcement further
undermine their efficacy.

Wal-Mart exploits these shortcomings. It is not alone among US companies in doing so, but it stands out for the
sheer magnitude and aggressiveness of its anti-union apparatus.

Wal-Mart pursues its unabashed anti-union agenda relentlessly, often from the day a new worker is hired, and
employs myriad tactics, legal and illegal, that chip away at—and often devastate—workers’ right to organize. The
strategy has worked. None of Wal-Mart’s over 1.3 million US workers is a union member.

Forming and joining a union is a natural response of workers seeking to improve their working conditions.
Wal-Mart workers who have tried to do so, however, have found themselves undermined at every turn by the
formidable resources of their powerful employer dedicated to derailing worker organizing.

Wal-Mart’s aggressive anti-union apparatus is not a model that should be replicated. Wal-Mart needs to change
course. It should immediately put an end to tactics that coercively interfere with worker organizing and, as an
industry leader, go further and pledge to remain neutral during union campaigns. US labor laws should be
reformed, beginning with enactment of the Employee Free Choice Act, to safeguard workers’ right to choose
whether to organize and to restore a fair and democratic
union selection process.

The importance of preventing Wal-Mart from
systematically violating US workers’ right to organize
cannot be overstated; Wal-Mart’s treatment of its
workers has a significant impact in the United States
and beyond. The future of workers’ right to freedom of
association is at stake when the government of the
world’s largest economy allows the world’s largest
company to regularly violate this fundamental right with
virtual impunity.
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